PROGESTIN RECEPTOR HETEROGENEITY IN A BREAST CANCER CELL LINE

ANITA LEVY

4

This dissertation is submitted to the Faculty of Science, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biochemistry.

1

Johannesburg 1995

DECLARATION

I declare that this dissertation entitled "Progestin Receptor Heterogeneity in a Breast Cancer Cell Line" is my own unaided work. It is being submitted to Rhodes University in fulfillment of the requirements of the Degree of Master of Science in Biochemistry and has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other University.

Anita Levy

DEDICATION

TO JONATHAN, MARC AND NEIL

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It was a priviledge to have Prof. L.A. van der Walt as my mentor and supervisor. I greatly appreciate Prof. van der Walts' faith, encouragement and support which continually spurred me on to complete this task.

I wish to acknowledge the following:

The South African Insitute for Medical Research for providing the necessary facilities to carry out this research.

Dr. A. Davidoff for giving of her very valuable time to instruct me in the insights of flow cytometry.

Prof. P. Gray for giving me the time to see this thesis through to the end.

The Chemical Pathology department for their friendship, encouragement and for making me feel so much part of the team.

My beloved mother who never lived to see the end of this chapter in my life.

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone
ALD	aldolase
AR	androgen receptor
BrDU	bromodeoxyuridase
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CBG	corticosteroid binding globulin
DCC	dextran coated charcoal
DES	diethylstilbestrol
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DPM	disintergrations per minute
DTT	dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	epidermal growth factor
ER	oestrogen receptor
ERE	oestrogen response element
FCS	foetal calf serum
fmol/mcp	femtomoles per milligram cytosol protein
³ H E ₂	[2,4,6,7- ³ H]-oestradiol-17 <i>B</i>
³ H-org	³ H-organon 2058
GR	glucocorticoid receptor
SDG	sucrose density gradient
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
	iv

HPIEC	nigh performance ion exchange chromatography
Hsp	heat shock protein
IGF	insulin growth factor
kd	disassociation constant
kDA	kilodaltons
MW	molecular weight
NSB	non specific-binding
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PI	propidium iodide
PRE	progesterone response element
PR	progestin receptor
RNA	ribonucleic acid
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
SDG	sucrose density gradient
SHBG	sex hormone-binding globulin
S	Svedberg/sedimentation unit
TGF	transforming growth factor
ТАМ	tamoxifen
ОНТАМ	4-hydroxytamoxifen

ABSTRACT

Anti-oestrogens act via the oestrogen receptor whether they compete with the hormone for binding to the receptor and therefore interfere with DNA binding or inhibit transcriptional activity. These receptors exist as a large 8S complex and/or a small 4S form on sucrose density gradients. High performance ion-exchange chromatography has confirmed that the oestrogen and progestin complex is present in various isoforms. Progestin receptor heterogeneity could be influenced by the presence of oestrogens and anti-oestrogens in the culture media of hormonedependent neoplastic cells.

Cell culture methods offer the opportunity to test effects of specified components in repeated experiments on a homogeneous population of cells. MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines were conditioned to grow in a serum-free environment. There was no difference in cell proliferation rates, nor in their oestrogen or progestin receptor levels when compared to the same cells grown in conventional media. Receptors were present mainly in the large molecular 8S form.

Both the MCF-7 and T47-D breast cancer cells showed an increase in proliferation rate with the addition of oestrogen or diethylstilbestrol. There was a corresponding loss of progestin receptor levels and an

vi

alteration in the high performance ion-exchange isoforms. Flow cytometry confirmed differences in the S-phase components of the cells following exposure to oestrogens.

The proliferation rates of the cell lines as well as their progestin receptor levels decreased when treated with tamoxifen or the hydroxylated tamoxifen. There were marked changes on high performance ionexchange chromatography profiles. DNA ploidy and S-phase showed signs of toxicity and there was an increase in cellular debris. The MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell line retained response to antioestrogen saturation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

		Page
1.	Overview	1
2.	Mechanism of steroid hormone action	8
3.	Criteria for receptor identification	11
	a. Finite binding capacity	11
	b. High affinity	11
	c. Steroid specificity	11
	d. Tissue or cellular specificity	12
	e. Correlation with biological response	12
4.	Measurement of steroid receptors	13
5.	Progesterone receptor	16
6.	ER and PR in human breast cancer	21
7.	Patient treatment	26
	a. Endocrine therapy	26
	i. Ablative therapies	26
	ii. Additive therapies	27
	b. Chemotherapy	34
	c. Adjuvant therapy	35
8.	DNA ploidy and S-phase	37
9.	Receptor heterogeneity	39

MATERIALS AND METHODS

		Page
1.	Reagents and chemicals	42
2.	Cell culture procedures	42
З.	Ligand binding reactions	44
4.	Sucrose density gradient ultracentrifugation	44
5.	Calculation of specific binding capacity	45
6.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography	46
7.	Flow cytometry	46

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1.	Growth of human breast cancer cell lines in serum-	
	free media	48
2.	Effects of oestrogen and anti-oestrogens on cell	
	proliferation	50
З.	Oestrogen receptor content of MCF-7 and T47-D	
	human breast cancer cell lines	53
4.	Progestin receptor content of MCF-7 and T47-D	
	human breast cancer cell lines	56
5.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography	
	of progestin receptor in MCF-7 and T47-D	
	human breast cancer cell lines	63
6.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography	

	of progestin receptor in oestrogen treated	
	MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines	71
7.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	progestin receptor in anti-oestrogen treated	
	MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines	80
8.	DNA analysis by flow cytometry of oestrogen and	
	anti-oestrogen treated MCF-7 and T47-D human	
	breast cancer cell lines	84

COI	NCLU	ISIO	N

LIST OF REFERENCES

104

LIST OF FIGURES

		Page
1.	Classical "two step mechanism" of events following the	
	interaction of a steroid hormone with a target cell	5
2.	Revised subcellular model of events following the	
	interaction of a steroid hormone with a target cell	7
З.	Chemical structures of anti-oestrogens	28
4.	Metabolites of tamoxifen identified in patients	31
5.	Proliferation rates of MCF-7 and T47-D human breast	
	cancer cells grown in media with and without serum	49
6.	Proliferation rates of MCF-7 and T47-D human breast	
	cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the	
	influence of oestrogens and antioestrogens	51
7.	Measurement of ER by SDG from MCF-7 human breast	
	cancer cells grown in media containing foetal calf	
	serum and serum-free media	54
8.	Measurement of ER by SDG from T47-D Human breast	
	cancer cells grown in media containing foetal calf	
	serum and serum-free media	57
9.	Measurement of PR by SDG from MCF-7 human breast	
	cancer cells grown in media containing foetal calf	
	serum and serum-free media	58
10.	Measurement of PR by SDG from T47-D human breast	
	cancer cells grown in media containing foetal calf	

	serum and serum-free media	61
11.	Chemical structure of phenol red	64
12.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells in media	
	containing foetal calf serum and serum-free media	65
13.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from T47-D human breast cancer cells in media	
	containing foetal calf serum and serum-free media	67
14.	Diagrammatic representation of ion-exchange	69
15.	Histogram of PR levels from MCF-7 human breast	
	cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the	
	influence of oestrogens	73
16.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of oestradiol-17B	
	for varying periods of time	74
17.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of synthetic	
	oestrogen for varying periods of time	75
18.	Histogram of PR levels from T47-D human breast	
	cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the	
	influence of oestrogens	77
19.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	

	PR from T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of oestradiol-17B	
	for varying periods of time	78
20.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of synthetic	
	oestrogen for varying periods of time	79
21.	Histogram of PR levels from MCF-7 human breast cancer	
	cells grown in serum-free media under the influence	
	of anti-oestrogens	81
22.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of tamoxifen	
	for varying periods of time	82
23.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of	
	4-hydroxytamoxifen for varying periods of time	83
24.	Histogram of PR levels from T47-D human breast	
	cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the	
	influence of anti-oestrogens	85
25.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of	
	PR from T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in	
	serum-free media under the influence of tamoxifen	
	xiii	

for varying periods of time

	for varying periods of time	86	
26.	High performance ion-exchange chromatography of		
	PR from T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in		
	serum-free media under the influence of		
	4-hydroxytamoxifen for varying periods of time	87	
27.	Representative explanatory histogram from Epics ^R flow		
	cytometer	89	
28.	Diagram of flow cytometer	90	
29.	Chemical composition of propidium iodide	91	
30.	DNA histogram of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells		
	grown in serum-free media with and without the		
	influence of oestrogens and anti-oestrogens	93	
31.	DNA histogram of T47-D human breast cancer cells		
	grown in serum-free media with and without the		
	influence of oestrogens and anti-oestrogens	96	

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table I.	Risk factors for breast cancer in females	2
Table II.	The constituents of serum free media	51

INTRODUCTION

1. Overview

Breast cancer is one of the most prevalent forms of cancer among Western european women and after lung cancer the most lethal. This includes white woman in South Africa. The lifelong odds of protracting breast cancer now stands at 1 in 8 which is double the risk reported in 1940 (1). The mystery of what lies behind this rise in risk over the past half century seems to have deepened and grown more complex. Family history of breast cancer appears to be one of the genetic risk factors (table 1). Epidimiologists have, however, shown that other factors besides inherited vulnerability is responsible for more than 60% of breast cancers observed (1). A popular theory, that of a high fat diet, is receiving great attention. Other possible contributing factors such as: exposure to toxic chemicals, alcohol consumption, stress and even exposure to electromagnetic fields are being investigated.

The large number of woman succumbing to this disease and eventually developing metastatic disease requires both the improvement of therapy and necessitates that the selection of appropriate therapies be made more accurately. Investigations during the past half decade have elucidated the mechanisms by which steroid hormones influence the

TABLEI: RISK FACTORS FOR BREAST CANCER IN FEMALES

Factor	High Risk	Low Risk MR
Age	Old	Young ***
Country of Birth	North America	Asia,Africa **
Socioeconomic class	Upper	Lower **
Marital Status	Never married	Ever married *
Area of residence	Urban	Rural *
Place of residence	Northern US	Southern US *
Race	White	Black *
Age at first full term pregnancy	Older than 30	Younger than ** 20
Oophorectomy	No	Yes **
Body build, postmenopausal	Obese	Thin **
Age at menarche	Early	Late *
Age at menopause	Late	Early *
Family history of premenopausal bilateral breast cancer	Yes	No ***
History of cancer in one breast	Yes	No ***
History of fibro- cystic disease	Yes	No **
Any first-degree relative with breast cancer	Yes	No **
History of primary cancer in ovary or endometrium	Yes	No **
Radiation to chest	Large doses	Minimal ** exposure
MRD = Magnitude of diffe	erential	
<pre>*** = Relative risk of greater than 4.0. ** = Relative risk of between 2.0 and 4.0. * = Ralative risk of between 1.1 and 1.9.</pre>		4.0. 1.9.

differentiation and development of target organs.

It has long been known that some human breast cancers are hormone dependent in that they undergo striking regression when deprived of supporting hormones by the removal of ovaries (2,3,4), adrenals (3,5) or pituitary (6,7) or on altering the hormonal millieu by the administration of androgens (7), large doses of oestrogens (8) or anti-oestrogens such as tamoxifen (9,10). For these patients who respond to endocrine manipulation by either ablative or additive means represents the best treatment available at this time for breast cancer. In a worldwide multitrial collaborative study including 75,000 women (12a, 12b), it was found that significant reduction in the rates of both recurrences and death are achieved by use of the anti-oestrogen tamoxifen and that tamoxifen reduces the risk of developing contralateral breast cancer by some 39% (12a,12b). Unfortunately only approximately 30% of human breast cancers are of the hormone-dependent type and thereby responsive to endocrine manipulation. There has thus been a need for some means to accurately distinguish those women with hormone dependent cancers, who are favourable candidates for endocrine therapy, from those patients whose tumours are unresponsive to hormonal treatment and should be placed directly on alternative regimes eg. chemotherapy (13,14).

Ever since the demonstration by Beatson (2) almost a century ago that oophorectomy caused the regression of malignant breast disease,

oestrogens have been implicated. Beatson's theories were taken up in the 1950's by Huggins and Dao (3) who obtained 38/100 remissions in patients with metastatic breast cancer who had undergone oophorectomy and adrenalectomy.

Jensen and Jacobson (15) made an invaluable contribution when they synthesised ³H oestradiol with a high specific activity, which made it possible to observe the differential accumulation and retention of ³H-oestradiol by the uterus and other target organs. Noteboom and Gorski (16) also found that after the administration of low levels of $[6,7-^{3}H]$ oestradiol-17*B* to immature rats, the isotope was found to be incorporated in all subcellular fractions of the rat uterus. The incorporation of ³H oestradiol could be inhibited by steroid and non-steroid oestrogens, but not by non- oestrogenic steroids. The inhibition appeared to be competitive and they suggested that the uterus contained a binding site which appeared to be stereospecific for oestrogenic molecules and hypothesized that it probably was of protein origin.

A major breakthrough in our understanding of steroid hormone action came about with the discovery of receptors for oestrogens in the 1960's (17,18) and this work led to the model, which was based on cell homogenization and fractionation studies, for the mechanism by which steroid hormones regulate gene expression (figure 1).

In the 1980's (19) exclusive nuclear localization of the oestrogen



FIGURE 1: Classical "two step mechanism" of intracellular events following the interaction of a steroid hormone with a target cell. Cytoplasmic form of receptor is designated Rc, nuclear form as Rn, and steroid hormone as S. Adapted from literature sources (17, 18),

receptor (ER) was reported even in the absence of endogenous hormone. It was suggested that unoccupied oestradiol receptors are loosely bound to the nucleus and released only in the cytosolic fraction on homogenization. This was later confirmed (20,21,22). This hypothesis was also confirmed with work done on the progesterone receptor (PR) and androgen receptor (AR) the exclusive nuclear localization of these receptors even in the absence of endogenous hormone (figure 2).

Steroid hormone receptors are responsible for the interaction between hormone and cell, and functions to trigger a biochemical chain of events characteristic for a particular hormone (23). Receptor proteins are found in concentrations ranging from 50 to 50,000 sites in target cells, but are virtually absent in non-target tissues. A biologically important property is the association of the steroid hormone with its characteristic receptor protein in a manner exhibiting high affinity and ligand specifity.

The most important observation concerning oestrogen and progestin receptors in human breast cancer was made by Jensen and co workers in 1971 (24) when they correlated the presence or absence of specific oestrogen binding with the outcome of endocrine therapy in breast cancers. In the late 1970's more evidence accumulated in favour of this hypothesis (23,25,26). It has consequently been proposed (27) that when malignant transformation occurs, the cell may retain all or only part of the normal population of receptor sites. If the cell retains receptor



.

FIGURE 2: Revised subcellular model of steroid hormone interaction with a target cell. Plasma oestrogen [E] diffuses directly into the nucleus where it binds with unoccupied Oestrogen receptor [R], and initiates protein synthesis and cell proliferation. Adapted from literature sources (20,21,22).

sites, its growth and function is as that of the normal cell, and it is potentially capable of being regulated by its hormonal environment. Were the cell to lose its receptors as a consequence of malignant transformation, it may no longer be recognised as a target cell by the circulating hormones and endocrine control would thus be abolished (23).

Early methods and clinical studies of oestrogen receptors (ER) were summarised at a 1974 International Symposium (28). Approximately 50-60% of breast tumours exhibited ER. Lack of ER generally denoted the inability of a cell to respond to hormonal manipulation. The presence of ER was thus found to be a prerequisite for normal cellular responses. The use of this criterion has increased the accuracy of selecting endocrine manipulation likely to produce an objective remission in the patient with advanced breast cancer. Data on clinical trials contributed from centres around the world (12a, 12b) clearly indicate that if a patient's tumour does not contain ER ,then there is only a slim chance of tumour regression following anti-oestrogen therapy. However, of those patients whose tumours contain ER and PR there are still 20% of whom will not respond to anti-oestrogen therapy. Only 60% of those tumours that are only ER positive. will respond to anti-oestrogen manipulation.

2. Mechanisms of steroid hormone action

The observation of Jensen (29,30) and Gorski (31) led to the proposal of the "two step mechanism" for the hormone induced transfer of the

receptor from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. The unbound steroid enters the cell apparently by passive diffusion, but in some cases active uptake may be involved. In target cells (cells sensitive to the hormone), the steroid combines with its specific receptor protein in a reaction termed uptake. These receptors are relatively large protein molecules that have specific binding sites for the hormone and are found in both the cytoplasm and nucleus of the cell. The binding of steroid to its receptor results in the formation of an "activated" or "transformed" receptorsteroid complex that has affinity for various nuclear binding sites. Prior to translocation into the nucleus, the steroid receptor complex must, therefore, undergo an activation step. After it enters the nucleus, the steroid-receptor complex associates with chromatin in an event called retention.

The binding of the receptor-steroid complex to specific acceptor sites located in the nucleus is thought to alter gene expression. Presumably, these acceptor sites whose transcription is to be induced by the hormone, are located at or near the DNA sequences. Second site cascade effects may also be conceivable. The biosynthetic events that result from receptor-steroid interactions include precursor mRNA transcription, processing, and translation into specific proteins that alter cell function, growth, or differentiation (32).

Once the receptor-steroid complex has interacted with acceptor sites, it

appears to undergo reactions that are not well understood but that eventually result in the re-establishment of unoccupied receptor (recycling) and elimination of the steroid from the cell. These reactions probably involve dissociation of the steroid from the receptor and the conversion of the receptor to a form that can now rebind hormones. The steroid may be metabolised to a derivative that does not bind tightly to the receptor and hence diffuses out of the cell.

Our understanding of steroid receptor action has increased in recent years by the cloning of c-DNAs/genes for the receptors (33-37). In terms of steroid receptor structure, various functional domains have been characterized for steroid binding, DNA binding and transactivation (36,37). Such regions have been distinguished in receptors for oestrogen biochemically and immunologically (38,39). From recombitant cDNA clones it has been possible to predict the complete amino-acid sequence of the receptors for oestrogen (40,41) and progesterone (42-44). Comparison of the sequences for the different receptors has led to the fact that receptor structure can be divided into 6 domains, A-F (45) of which region C is conserved throughout all receptors. By alignment of region C, it would appear that receptors vary in size at their aminoterminal ends (regions A,B) but the carboxy-terminal portions (regions C-F) remain similar in size. It has been found that region C holds the DNA binding domain and region E the steroid binding domain for oestrogen (46). Further studies of region C have suggested that DNA binding of

receptors may be by "zinc binding fingers" akin to those of transcription factors (47). Region C appears to hold only a small fraction of total activity and additional transactivation domains are located in both aminoand carboxy-terminal regions (36,37).

3. Criteria for receptor identification

A complete understanding of the relationship between steroid receptor binding and the mechanism of hormone action depends on the valid characterization and accurate measurement of steroid receptors. The following criteria should be met in order to positively identify a protein as being a specific receptor of that ligand (48):

a. Finite binding capacity: The biological response to steroid hormones is a saturable phenomenon. Assuming that the formation of receptor hormone complexes is obligatory for the production of biological responses the number of receptors per unit mass of tissue should be limited and hence a finite number of receptor sites should exist.

b. High affinity: Steroid receptors should possess a high affinity for the respective hormones. This is expected because the circulatory levels of steroid are usually 10-¹⁰m to 10-⁸m. The existence of receptor-mediated responses of physiological importance thus requires that the receptor have an affinity for the respective hormone that falls in the range of concentrations found in the plasma, otherwise the response would not occur.

c. Steroid specificity: Receptors are expected to display high affinities for

a specific hormone or class of hormones. This specificity enables a given target to respond to a hormonal signal without interference from other signals/hormones of the same class. Their agonists and antagonists should thus compete effectively for a given class of receptor while not affecting other receptor systems. Receptor sites do not however, display absolute stereo-specificity, i.e. the binding site on the receptor has a limited capacity for the recognition and differentiation of ligands other than it's primary hormone.

d. Tissue or cellular specificity: Specific cell types or tissue respond to certain steroid hormones. Since the response is thought to be mediated via receptors, the latter should exist in these cell types and not be in significant numbers in non-responsive cells. This criterion has been applied very successfully to receptor systems for hormones. Only certain tumours, for instance, are assimulated by sex steroids (eg., the uterus, vagina and mammary gland in the case of ER and PR) and the density of ER and PR is much higher per unit mass of target tissue in these organs than in the spleen, lung or other non-target tissues.

e. Correlation with biological response: Implicit in all studies of macromolecules that bind steroid hormones is the assumption that binding results in a biological response. Binding of the hormone to the receptors must thus precede or accompany tissue responses, and the extent of the response should relate to some function of receptor occupancy.

4. Measurement of steroid receptors

It was first shown in 1966 (49) that the receptor complex sedimented as an 8S component in low salt sucrose density gradients and that the complex could be dissociated into smaller 4S units in the presence of 400mM potassium chloride. They also found that the receptor binding molecule was heat labile, non-dialysable, precipitable with ammonium sulphate and was destroyed by proteolytic enzymes, but not by ribonuclease or deoxyribonuclease. Based on these observations, steroid hormone receptors were defined as those protein molecules that bind steroids with high affinity, specificity and with finite binding capacity (50).

The development of new methodologies were essential before a more detailed molecular description could emerge. The steroid receptors were found to be in low concentrations in endocrine target tissue and were also very unstable and extremely labile (51). It was these properties that hampered progress and delayed basic information on receptor protein structure. Furthermore, the presence of contaminating proteins in cell extracts able to interact in a non-specific fashion with radiolabelled steroids complicated the situation.

The appearance of certain synthetic steroid ligands such as the synthetic progestins R5020 (17-alpha,21-dimethyl-19-nor-pregn-4,9,diene-3,20-dione) (52) and Organon 2058 (17-alpha,21-dimethyl-19-nor-pregn-

4,ene-3,20-dione) (53) helped to alleviate the problems of rapid receptor deterioration. These synthetic ligands bind more strongly and have the added advantage of not binding non-specifically to endogenous proteins. These compounds are now used routinely with wide acceptance in receptor studies.

The multipoint titration procedure for receptors using subsaturating and saturating concentrations of radioactive hormones was introduced (54). Cytosol prepared by homogenization should be used immediately as receptor properties deteriorate rapidly. Non-specific binding is also measured by the addition of a 200-fold excess of unlabelled hormone. The protein-bound hormone is then separated from the unbound by adsorption to hydroxyl-apatite, DEAE, filtration, protamine precipitation or most commonly dextran-coated charcoal,followed by centrifugation. All reactions are equilibrated at 5°C and the reactions are then allowed to equilibrate. Specific receptor binding is defined as the total binding minus the non-specific binding. The data is manipulated according to the single component (one steroid molecule per binding site) method of Scatchard (55).

Sucrose density gradients have become a basic research method for the characterization of steroid binding proteins in that this method separates these macromolecules based on size, shape and buoyant density. This is a relatively gentle method and can be applied to small quantities of

unpurified material. A wide variety of other techniques have developed over the years in order to characterize the steroid-receptor complexes. Adsorption to DEAE-cellulose (56), precipitation with ammonium sulfate and phosphocellulose (57), hydroxyl-apatite (58), gel-filtration chromatography (59,60), and affinity chromatography using steroids that were covalently linked to an insoluble matrix (61,62) represent some described approaches.

An accurate definition of the native structure of steroid receptors in the cell either before or subsequent to binding to DNA was essential. Molybdate, originally added to inhibit phosphatases, was found to have stabilizing effects on the 8-10S forms of progestin receptor (PR) (63,64) and oestradiol receptors (ER) (65,66). In working with these preparations by the above classical separation techniques and with newer methods such as photoaffinity-labelling with tritiated R5020 (67,68), digestion with proteases (69,70) and the use of receptor antibodies for oestrogen (71) and progesterone (72), it soon became apparent that the steroid receptor complex was more complicated than originally assumed (73).

The development of receptor-specific antibodies represented a major advance in receptor studies. Monoclonal antibodies were developed for the detection, localisation and quantitation of steroid receptors (74). Since the antibodies bind to specific antigenic sites on the receptor which are thought to be distinct from the ligand binding site, monoclonal antibodies are able to detect receptors whose ligand binding sites may be saturated with endogenous hormone. Monoclonal antibodies may also be able to recognise denatured or transformed receptors that would not bind steroid (75). Immunohistochemical methods have been developed to routinely assess the oestrogen receptor status of breast tumor biopsies at the time of surgery (76,77).

The development of high-performance liquid chromatographic techniques (HPLC) alleviated to some extent the need to circumvent the problems of prolonged manipulation in receptor preparation. HPLC in the ion-exchange (78,79), chromatofocusing (80) and hydrophobic interaction modes (81) were developed for rapid, effective separation of receptor isoforms. These techniques also confirmed that steroid receptors exhibited molecular heterogeneity. Steroid receptors are dynamic proteins whose properties of size, shape, surface charge and hydrophobicity vary depending on the conditions of their environment. Using various types of chromatography one can exploit these properties so that the various species of the receptors may be separated and studied (82).

5. Progesterone receptor

The mechanisms by which oestradiol and progesterone regulate the proliferation and differentiation of uterine epithelial cells most probably do not apply to the breast (83-85). In the uterus oestrogens are clearly mitogenic and the addition of progesterone to the oestrogenized

endometrium leads to the appearance of a secretory pattern characterized by cells engaged in protein synthesis rather than cell division (86). In the uterus oestradiol may thus function as a proliferative hormone and progesterone as a differentiating hormone. Hence the unopposed actions of oestradiol are considered to be tumourigenic in the uterus while the risk of endometrial hyperplasia and cancer is lowered when oestrogens are combined with progestins. In fact, the combined regime may even be protective since a decrease in endometrial cancers has been reported in women prescribed combined oestrogens and progestins compared with women receiving no treatment (87). However, considerable evidence has now accrued to suggest that in the epithelium of the breast, progesterone has a different influence. Progesterone in the breast appears to exhibit a strong proliferative effect. Studies in support of this come both from experimental models (88) and from normal cycling women (89).

Fundamental differences in the actions of oestradiol and progesterone in the breast is that the latter stimulates DNA synthesis, not only in the epithelium of the terminal bud, but also in the ductal epithelium. Compared to the increase caused by oestradiol treatment (11.3 fold), progestin treatment only marginally increases the mitotic index of normal human breast ductal epithelium two fold. It is difficult to sustain the hypothesis that progestins are protective in the breast (84). It would seem that more research must be done to understand the actions of

progestins in the normal breast, and that clinical decisions based on the inappropriate uterine model system is unjustified (90).

Like all steroid hormones, progesterone and the synthetic progestins function by binding to intracellular proteins, the progesterone receptor, the presence of which specifies a progesterone target tissue and target cell. Progesterone receptor (PR), when bound to ligand, control the transcription of genes for ER (91), for insulin receptors (92), for epidermal growth factor receptors (EGF) (93), as well as the genes transforming growth factor (TGF) (94,95). Thus, the proliferative effects of progesterone may in part be a reflection of its ability to modulate the levels of growth factors and their cognate receptors. The mechanism by which this regulation is achieved and the structure of the PR proteins are complex (36,37,40,96).

Complementary DNA'S for the chicken PR were cloned independently in 1986 (43) and by Coneelly also in 1986 (42), and for the human PR in 1987 (97). PR belongs to the steroid/thyroid hormone receptor superfamily of ligand-activated DNA binding proteins (36,37) which are composed of a number of independently functioning domains required for nuclear localization, ligand binding, DNA binding, dimerization and transcriptional activation. Progesterone receptor, like ER, is distinctly a nuclear protein (98). In the absence of hormone the receptor is heterooligomers loosely bound in the nuclear structure and extracted into the cytoplasm during homogenization (99), whereas after *in vivo* hormone binding, all receptors are tightly attached to nuclear elements. Additional sites on the receptors are responsible for their interaction with one or more accessory proteins including heat shock proteins and several of the serine residues are covalently modified by phosphorolation. Not all of these domains have been definitely mapped. In general the N-terminus is involved in transactivation and contains several phosphorolation sites; the DNA-binding domain is centrally positioned and may have a weak dimerization function. The ligand-binding activity is restricted to the Cterminus, which also contains structural features required for proteinprotein interactions plus a second transcriptional activation domain (36,37,96,100,101).

The two major protein species, the A and B receptors, were originally described by O'Malley and co-workers in 1970 (59) and 1972 (102) in the chick oviduct. Subsequent studies using the human breast cancer cell line T47D showed that PR exists as two isoforms, the N-terminally truncated 94 kDa A receptor and the 116 kDa B receptor (103-106). The amino-truncated receptors are a naturally synthesized form (103,104). Originally, the unliganded A and B isoforms were thought to be subunits of a larger heteromeric 8S receptor (107). This, however, is not the case. Instead, each receptor species forms independent 8S heteromeric complex on sucrose gradients (108-110), by binding to as many as five non-hormone-binding proteins including two molecules of 90 kDa heat

shock protein (hsp) and one molecule of hsp 70 (111-113). In this oligmeric state, the receptor proteins are basally phosphorolated and unable to bind DNA, but they are maintained in a stable conformation that allows them to bind progesterone or progestins.

Hormone binding to the 8S receptor form activates a rapid series of changes, the exact sequential order of which is still unknown. Within seconds after hormone binding, the receptors become hyperphosphorylated (114-116) and several of the associated proteins (but not hsp 70) dissociate, leading to generation of a faster sedimenting 4S receptor form (113-118). Two 4S receptor molecules dimerize (118) and then bind to DNA at specific transcription enhancer sites called progesterone response elements (PRE) (36,27,41,96). Since both homo and heterodimers can form between the A and B isoforms, three possible classes of receptor dimers (A:A,A:B,B:B) can bind to a PRE, each having a potentially different transcription regulatory capacity (101,118). This diversity in the repertoire of responses to one hormone sets progesterone apart from the regulatory information carried by other sex steroid hormones studied to date. However, no formal proof exists that both isoforms are in the same cell.

That this molecular heterogeneity is indeed translated into functional heterogeneity was first demonstrated in 1988 (119) that assessed the cell specific transcriptional activation of two different target genes by
the chicken A and B receptors. It seems that the N-terminal region of PR, present in B but missing in A receptors, plays a specific role in transcription that differs depending both on the gene being modulated and the cell being analysed. Thus, the A receptor can be stimulatory in a setting where the B receptor is inhibitory. It suggests that the Nterminal of the B receptor confers specific transcription regulatory functions to PR. These data suggest that, as we learn about the tissue specific effects of the two PR isoforms it may be important not only to measure PR levels, but also to identify the particular PR isoform present in a breast tumour. While equimolar amounts of A and B receptors have been demonstrated in breast cancer cell lines, it is not known whether this stoichiometry applies to PR-positive breast cancer.

6. ER and PR in human breast cancer.

Analysis of oestrogen and progesterone receptors in biopsies of breast carcinomas continues to play an important role in the selection of patients likely to respond to hormonal therapy. Reports from many laboratories over the years have been consistent with their results. Seventy to 80% of ER and PR positive patients, 50-60% containing ER positve and PR negative patients, 30% of ER negative and PR positive patients and only about 5% of ER negative and PR negative patients exhibit objective remissions to additive or ablative endocrine therapy (23,24,26,73,120-127). These receptors may thus also be considered prognostic variables with regard to recurrence-free and overall survival

The molecular basis of successful endocrine therapy appears to be related to the fact that certain tumors have retained the cellular mechanism to respond to the same hormonal stimuli as their progenitor cells (128). When malignant transformation occurs, the cell may retain all or part of the normal population of receptor sites. If the malignant cell retains receptors, its growth and function are potentially capable of being regulated by the hormonal environment, as in a normal cell. Such tumours would be responsive to endocrine therapy. If specific receptors are lost from the tumour, this may indicate that the tumour is endocrine resistant and so would be unresponsive to endocrine manipulation (27). The presence of ER and PR in a tumour is known to provide a molecular basis for distinguishing hormonally-responsive breast carcinomas from those that are not (129).

Although ER negative and PR negative patients rarely respond to endocrine manipulation there is nevertheless a small percentage of about 5% that do respond. There are several possible explanations for this response. Steroid receptors are extremely labile proteins and failure to detect receptor activity may be due to methodological artifacts. The most common problems include the incorrect handling and storage of specimens (130), insufficient sampling of malignant cells due to inadvertant biopsy of neighbouring tissue and the breast tumour itself may be heterogeneous and a biopsy that is ER negative may not be totally representitive of other tumour deposits. A variety of additive and ablative therapies employed in patients with breast cancer may also act via mechanisms mediated by receptors or growth factors other than ER.

A less encouraging conclusion derived from early studies was that ER positive tumours, while more likely to respond to surgical endocrine manipulation, did not show a uniform response. In fact only one half of ER positive patients underwent demonstrable clinical remission following anti-oestrogen manipulation (131). Extensive studies addressing the issues of molecular and cellular heterogeneity and their relation to progression of breast cancer and their resistance to hormonal therapy have been carried out.

Complementary DNA (cDNA) was cloned and sequenced from MCF-7, a human breast breast cancer cell line (40,41). The gene for ER was later successfully analysed in 1988 (132). The A/B domains contain regions that regulate the transcriptional function of the proteins. The C domain contains two DNA binding zinc fingers and represents the region of the protein that binds to the oestrogen response element (ERE). Mutations in this portion of the protein changes its affinity for DNA resulting in suboptimal or complete loss of binding as shown by mutagenesis analysis. The hormone binding properties of the receptor reside in region E. Since the two functions, the DNA binding and hormone binding, are carried out by separate parts of the protein, they are to some extent independent. Thus, it is possible to have variant receptors that can bind to DNA with limited affinity without first binding hormone and vice-versa (46,133).

The nuclear localization signal, located downstream from the DNA binding domain, is a region of the protein that must be present for the receptor to remain within the nucleus in the absence of ligand (134). It has been identified in PR and is presumed to be similar in ER. The Hsp 90 appears to bind to regions in the hormone binding domain of some steroid receptors when ligand is absent, and its binding is thought to prevent receptor dimerization and DNA binding (135). Ligand activation leads to hsp 90 dissociation and monomer dimerization in solution (133).

The dimerization domain that mediates this interaction between the two ER molecules has been localized to the carboxyterminal end of the hormone binding domain (136). A weak dimerization domain may also be present in the second zinc finger of the DNA binding domain (133). Additional sites for heterologous protein interactions may also be located in the hormone binding domain (137) and covalent modifications by phosphorolation further enhance the complexity of this protein molecule (138).

An alternate oestrogen receptor messenger mRNA has been identified

(139), which appears to be be the primary transcript present in human uterus as opposed to the breast cancer cell line MCF-7. A truncated ER message specific to pituitary cells has been described (140). Probably in normal cells the regulation of gene transcription and even ER protein structure may be tissue specific. In malignant cells there is mounting evidence that in addition to silent mutations and regulatory heterogeneity, mutations in ER exons exist that would influence protein structure and protein function. (141,142).

Several wild type ER mRNA mutations have been found (141-145). The functional importance of these mutations is still under investigation but they clearly suggest mechanisms by which mutant receptor forms can subvert the activity of wild type forms, when both are expressed in the same tumour cell. The question is does message variants reflect protein variants? Foster in 1991 (146) and Scott in 1991 (147) examined the ability of tumour ER to bind an oestrogen response element (ERE) and these studies showed that some tumours containing abundant immunoreactive ER failed to demonstrate DNA binding ER or that the DNA binding forms appeared to be truncated. Based on these preliminary data, the prevalence of non-DNA binding ER forms or truncated ER forms among ER positive or PR positive tumours may exceed 50%, a significant number whose structural analysis may become a critically important prognostic tool.

A small group of tumours that are ER negative but PR positive have a higher response rate than is usually expected of ER negative tumours. Either PR synthesis in these tumours are entirely independent of ER action or either a variant or other unmeasured form of ER exists. The key to explaining steroid action lies in defining the mechanisms that are interposed between the initial ligand recognition event and the activation of the transcription of hormone-responsive genes encoding each of the steroid receptors, together with the description of specific sequences of DNA termed hormone response elements (HRE's) that bind the hormone receptor and control the efficiency of transcription (37,148), has allowed the application of molecular genetic techniques to this problem.

7. Patient treatment

a. Endocrine therapy

Various endocrine manipulations by either ablation of the ovaries, adrenals or pituitary gland or administration of hormones or antihormones have demonstrated activity against breast carcinoma (149), and have been discussed previously.

i) Ablative therapies

The types of ablative therapy endocrine treatment have changed dramatically over the past 20 years; oophorectomy is still in common use but other forms of endocrine surgery, such as adrenalectomy and hypophysectomy have been superseded by drugs with few side effects and unlike surgery, with reversible actions.

Ovarian ablation

Bilateral oophorectomy (2) was one of the first treatments available for premenopausal women with metastatic disease and is still often used, sometimes with an anti-oestrogen.

Hypophysectomy and adrenalectomy

These second line endocrine manoeuvres appear comparable but may have have largely been supplanted by the development of aminoglutethimide (5).

ii) Additive therapies

Oestrogens

Until recently, oral oestrogen therapy was the standard treatment for postmenopausal women with metastatic breast carcinoma (9). Because of equivalent therapeutic effectiveness with much less toxicity, the antioestrogen tamoxifen has gradually replaced oestrogens as the first choice of endocrine treatment in postmenopausal women.

Anti-oestrogens

Any substance that antagonises the action of oestrogens may be termed an anti-oestrogen. All such compounds of current clinical relevance are derivatives of triphenylethelene. These include nafoxidene, clomiphene and tamoxifen (figure 3). These compounds compete with oestradiol for binding to specific oestrogen receptor binding sites. The explanation for their biological activity, however, is more complicated and cannot be explained in terms of this effect alone (150).





NAFOXIDEN

CLOMIPHENE



TAMOXIFEN

FIGURE 3: Chemical structures of anti-oestrogens nafoxidene, Clomifene and Tamoxifen.

Tamoxifen (Nolvadex ICI 46,474)

Tamoxifen is a triphenylethelene, and is a partial anti-oestrogen. Tamoxifen is a competitive inhibitor of oestradiol binding of oestrogen receptors (151). The compound inhibits the binding oestrogen to target tissues in vivo (152-157). It is clear however that the high affinity of tamoxifen to a variety of proteins causes ubiquitous binding of the drug in vivo and probably accounts for its long biological halflife (158). Oestrogens decrease cell cycle time and tamoxifen causes reversible blockade at the G₁ phase (159,160). Anti-oestrogens inhibit oestrogen stimulated increases in transforming growth factor a (TGFa), a stimulatory factor (161). There is a complementary rise in transforming growth factor b (TGFb), an inhibitory growth factor (162). Although the actual regulatory mechanisms that orchestrate the inhibitory and stimulatory actions of growth factors are unclear; this modification of the endocrinological regulation by growth factors on breast cancer cell kinetics, continues to be an area of investigation. It is also reported that there is an increase in sex hormone binding-globulin, which may decrease the availability of the free estrogens for diffusion into the cells (163). There is also a school of thought that suggests that tamoxifen administration leads to an increase of natural killer cells (164). Overall the experimental evidence points to the fact that tamoxifen is tumouristatic (165,166), rather than tumouricidal (167,168). Investigations using a variety of modules have evaluated the effect of tamoxifen on tumour promotion and have shown that when tamoxifen is given after a

carcinogen, but before the appearance of a tumour, it prevents the occurence of a palpable tumour for as long as the administration of the drug is maintained (155,156,166). Long term adjuvant tamoxifen treatment or treatment until relapse, is predicted to be the best therapeutic strategy to control the recurrence of breast cancer following mastectomy/lumpectomy (169-174).

The clinical pharmacology of tamoxifen was initially investigated in patients with advanced breast cancer (175-178). The drug is readily absorbed and accumulates to steady state levels by the end of the first month of treatment (176). The serum levels of tamoxifen at steady state are extremely variable and are not related to response (179). The principle metabolite of tamoxifen is N-desmethyltamoxifen (figure 4) which produces blood levels approximately twice as high as those of tamoxifen by the end of the first month of treatment. The serum halflives of tamoxifen and N-desmethyltamoxifen are extremely long probably because the compounds are highly protein bound(180). Tamoxifen is extensively metabolized in patients (181,182) but no significant guantities of oestrogenic metabolites have been noted that would cause concern during long term adjuvant tamoxifen therapy. Ndesmethyltamoxifen is further metabolised to metabolites which have a glycol side chain (183,184). Tamoxifen is also converted to 4hydroxytamoxifen but this metabolite is only observed in low concentration in the serum.(178). However, this metabolite has a very



FIGURE 4: Metabolites of tamoxifen identified in patients.

high affinity for the oestrogen receptor (the same as that of oestradiol) and at the same time is a potent inhibitor of oestrogen action (185-188). Therefore, 4-hydroxytamoxifen plays a significant role in supporting the anti-tumour action of tamoxifen. 4-hydroxy N-desmethyltamoxifen has also been identified in patients (189), and has been shown in the laboratory to be formed either from 4-hydroxytamoxifen or Ndesmethyltamoxifen (190). Tamoxifen has also been shown to exhibit oestrogen-like effects that appear to have target site specificity (191), as it displays oestrogen-like effects in bone (192,193).

Progestational agents

These have proved useful as second-line endocrine treatments in patients who have responded to prior endocrine therapy (194,195). The oral progestin megestrol-acetate, is easiest to use and is relatively free of side effects (196,197). Their exact mechanism of action is unknown, although possibilities include blockade of PR, interference with ER synthesis, androgen-like effects, or possibly effects on other tissues such as the immune system (198).

Androgens

These agents have also been used largely as second-line endocrine treatments (198). Response rates seem to be somewhat lower than with other endocrine treatments except for bone metastases, where androgens may actually be superior to oestrogens (199).

Glucocorticoids

Large doses of glucocorticoid can induce regression of metastatic breast cancer in 10% to 20% of patients (199). Remissions are short lived, but the rapid onset of effect of glucocorticoids makes them useful in advancing disease.

Aminoglutethimide

This oral agent has recently been introduced in the field of endocrine treatment of breast cancer as a medical equivalent of adrenalectomy (200). Aminoglutethimide has dual actions, both inhibiting the conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone, which is an important precursor of all steroid hormones (201) and inhibiting the aromatisation reaction needed to convert adrenal steroids to oestrogens by fat and other extra-adrenal tissues (202). This inhibition of the aromatase enzymes essentially eradicates oestrogen production in postmenopausal or castrated women. Replacement doses of glucocorticoids must be given with aminoglutethimide to prevent a compensatory rise in adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) which can overcome the aminoglutethimide inhibition of pregnenolone synthesis from cholesterol (200). Aminoglutethimide has compared favourably with surgical adrenalectomy with comparable response rates and remission duration, thereby appearing to be a preferable alternative (203).

Others

Several newer endocrine agents with promising preliminary reports include Leuprolide (204) an analogue of human gonadotropin-releasing

hormone, which causes an effective medical castration of premenopausal women and trilostane (205), which inhibits the actuation of steroid precursors.

b. Chemotherapy

Cytostatic chemotherapy is often used to treat patients with metastatic breast carcinoma (206). Symptomatic and objective responses (tumour shrinkage) often ensues. Whether this translates in longer patient survival is not always clear, but certainly there are many patients with aggressive metastatic disease in the liver or lungs, whose life span as well as quality of life have improved with such treatment (206). When discussing various treatment programs, most studies have tended to focus on response rate, using relatively uniform objective criteria to define response (207). Patients receiving chemotherapy are preselected (208). They are generally viewed as having too aggressive disease for endocrine therapy or have already been treated with endocrine therapy and either failed or relapsed after an initial response. Patients with more indolent disease tend to be treated initially with endocrine therapy. There are few prognostic factors predictive of response to chemotherapy. Although kinetic studies (209) suggest that the more rapidly growing carcinomas respond better to chemotherapy, patients with short diseasefree intervals (presumably due to fast growing carcinomas do not show higher response rates to chemotherapy. Carcinomas that are ER poor tend to grow faster in vitro and clinically. It might thus be anticipated

that these malignancies would show a better response rate than oestrogen receptor-rich tumours (210). Factors that are associated with increased response rates to chemotherapy include better overall response of soft tissue tumours and lymph node metastases (211), as opposed to liver, bone and lymphangitic lung matastases (206,212). Many chemotherapeutic agents are effective against breast carcinoma, the most commonly used include cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, 5flouracil, vincristine and adriamycin (213). Since the initial reports in 1963 (214) and especially in 1969 (215), combination chemotherapy regimes have generally been viewed as the preferred initial chemotherapy approach. Although most oncologists use combination chemotherapy regimes, the data supporting the benefits of combination chemotherapy compared to single agents used sequentially do not always clearly show a survival benefit for combination chemotherapy (216). Patients with aggressive disease may thus well require intensive combination chemotherapy. For others with indolent disease the use of one agent at a time (sequentially with disease progression) may prove just as beneficial (217).

c. Adjuvant therapy

The potential benefits using endocrine and chemotherapy together have long been investigated. Theoretically, such combination may prove to be additive, synergistic, or even antagonistic if the endocrine therapy interferes with tumour cell growth and renders the carcinoma less responsive to chemotherapy (208,218). Studies comparing

oophorectomy alone with oophorectomy and chemotherapy suggest that the combination produced better response rates and response durations (219,220). Short-term but not overall survivals were also improved. A study comparing chemotherapy and chemotherapy plus oophorectomy in premenopausal women and diethylstilbestrol(DES) in postmenopausal women demonstrated improved response rates with the combined treatment but no clear survival advantages (221). More recently, several studies have assessed the addition of tamoxifen to chemotherapy (222,223). Results have been mixed, with some reports suggesting improved response rates without survival benefits (224, 225) while others showed no benefit of tamoxifen (226,227) or even inferiority of simultaneous chemotherapy and tamoxifen compared using tamoxifen after chemotherapy failure (228). At present there is no definitive evidence favouring simultaneous rather than sequential use of chemotherapy and endocrine therapy. In 1992 the Early Breast Cancer Trialists Collaborative Group reported in the Lancet (12a, 12b) on the systemic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal, cytotoxic, or immune therapy. This involved 133 randomised trials involving 31000 recurrences and 24000 deaths among 75000 women. Significant reductions in the annual rates both of recurrence and of death are produced by tamoxifen, which was also found to reduce the risk of development of contralateral breast cancer by some 39%. It was found that chemotherapy plus tamoxifen is better than chemotherapy alone for recurrence. The 30-40% proportional risk reductions that can be

produced by combined chemo-endocrine therapy in middle age are similar for node-positive and for node negative patients, but the absolute improvement in 10-year survival is about twice as great for the former (at least 12 deaths avoided per 100 women treated) as for the latter.

8. DNA ploidy and S-phase

The ultimate aim of any oncologist would be to have prognostic factors that could predict completely the clinical behaviour of primary breast cancer. Such factors could be used to separate patients who are likely to be cured by local therapy and who would not benefit from the addition of adjuvant therapy, from those who are destined to recur and die without intervention. Towards this aim attention has focused on the proliferative potential of tumour cells which may be associated with the metastatic spread of breast cancer. The most commonly used techniques to measure proliferative activity are the mitotic index, the thymidine labeling index (229,230) and more recently, the S-phase fraction determined by DNA flow cytometry (231,232).

Flow cytometry is a relatively new technology. DNA flow cytometry provides a measure of DNA content (ploidy) and a measure of proliferative activity (S-phase fraction) (233). It has been used to evaluate the nuclear DNA content of several types of human cancers. The fundamental steps in DNA flow cytometry include the isolation of intact nuclei. The incubation of nuclei with a fluorescent stain such as propidium iodide, followed by the measurement of the fluorescence intensity of the individual stained cells. The fluorescence levels are determined by passing the nuclei through an excitation source, usually an argon-ion laser. Photomultipliers capture the fluorescence levels and convert them to digital signals that can be stored in a computer for further analysis.

The result of flow cytometric analysis is a DNA histogram from which cell cycle components can be estimated. Cell populations are often divided into three basic cell cycle compartments: the G_0/G_1 compartment consists of normal non dividing (G_1) or quiescent (G_0) cells. The S-phase fraction comprises cells undergoing replication or cell synthesis and the G_2/M compartment includes cells in the postsynthetic phase (G_2) and cells in mitosis.

Most breast tumours comprise at least 2 different populations of cells. Normal tissue consisting off lymphocytes and benign cells and tumour cells that may or may not undergo chromosomal aberrations resulting in an abnormal amount of DNA content. Tumour ploidy is often quantitated by the DNA index, defined as the ratio of G_0/G_1 peak of the tumour population to the G_0/G_1 peak of the normal population. Diploid tumours have a DNA index of 1.0 reflecting a normal amount of DNA. Most aneuploid breast cancers have an excess amount of DNA with a DNA index greater than 1.0. It is also possible to have multiple DNA indices.

The S-phase fraction determined by DNA flow cytometry has been proposed as a measure of cell proliferation. Several studies (234) have now been published describing the relationship between S-phase fraction and other prognostic factors. Tumours with increased S-phase fractions are seen in poorly differentiated, steroid receptor-negative tumours. There is a trend for larger tumours from premenopausal patients with positive axillary lymph nodes to have higher S-phase fractions. Both DNA ploidy and S-phase fraction have been correlated with the clinical outcome of patients (235-242). The oncology research network, established by the University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio and Nichols Institute reference laboratory, which was established in order to evaluate the clinical utility of new prognostic factors for patients with primary breast cancer, reported in 1993 on 127,000 breast cancer patients. In their report they found that steroid receptor negative tumours were more often aneuploid and had a higher median S-phase fraction than receptor positive tumours (243). The strong inverse relationship between steroid receptor status, ploidy and Sphase fraction has been reported by other investigators (237-251) while a few earlier studies had failed to observe this finding (252-254).

9. Receptor heterogeneity

Breast cancer patients undergoing hormone treatment with anti-oestrogens invariably become resistant (208,255). As it has already been stated on the basis of conventional biochemical receptor assays oestrogen, and in particular, progestin receptor status is a significant prognostic variable with regard to recurrence free and overall survival (121-123). At the cellular level most breast cancers are heterogeneous and composed of varying proportions of individual receptor positive and receptor negative cancer cells. It has been found that in a heterogeneous tumour primarily the receptor negative cells synthesize DNA and proliferate more rapidly than receptor positive cells (248,256-258).

A variety of mechanisms have been proposed for development of the acquired resistance to tamoxifen that arises in animal model systems (168,259) and in virtually all patients (208) undergoing hormonal therapy. Genetic mechanisms include the variant and mutant forms of oestrogen receptor, which may exert dominant positive or dominant negative controls over oestrogen and anti-ostrogen regulated growth (141,143,260,261). Epigenetic mechanisms centres on pharmacokinetic issues related to drug absorption, distribution and metabolism. Recent data indicates that the metabolite, trans-4-hydroxytamoxifen, may be selectively excluded from tamoxifen-resistant breast cancers or be further metabolized to relatively inactive forms (262).

It is possible that tumour progression to the resistant state includes a mechanism involving selection and expansion of cell subpopulations, some of which remain strongly influenced by tamoxifen. That hormone treatment may itself provide the selective remodelling pressure has been suggested (168). While normal tissue may respond uniformly to the regulatory signals of hormones, the genetic instability and heterogeneity that characterize malignant cells may render them incapable of uniform response. Evaluation of heterogeneity is important for analysis of tumour behaviour in response to therapy and in attempting to explain the lack of correlation between response and marker levels that so often arises.

Hormone responsive or resistant breast cancer cell lines with various oestrogen and progesterone receptor levels have been useful in studies of steroid hormone action and growth regulation (263). However, these breast cancer cell lines have been shown to have unstable biological properties. In addition to changes in steroid receptor levels and hormone sensitivity, some breast cancer cell lines have also been shown to be genetically unstable, with spontaneous DNA duplication occuring. (264-271). Studies into these unstable breast cancer cell lines in culture may lend valuable clues to the aggressive nature of breast cancer tumours, particularly their involvement in the development of hormone resistance, which may be due to a collection of reasons. These include defects in the oestrogen and progesterone receptor, progression from diploid to aneuploid and tetraploid to hypertetraploid states, and the relationship that exists with the S-phase fraction.

This thesis is an attempt to explore further the relationship of oestrogens and anti-oestrogens on the progestin receptor in *in vitro* cell culture models.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Reagents and chemicals

Oestradiol-[17-ß[2,4,6,7-³H] specific activity 80-110 Ci/mmol and 16-*A*ethyl-21-hydroxy-19-nor-[6,7,-³H]-pregn-4-ene-3,20-dione (Organon 2058) specific activity 42 to 59 Ci/mmol, unlabelled Organon-2058, Z-4-OH-(N-methyl)-tamoxifen, tamoxifen and Serotec GC serum free media, were purchased from Amersham International, UK. Oestradiol 17-*beta*, diethylstilbestrol, glycerol, dithiothreitol, and sodium molybdate were obtained from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), while dextran T-70 was procured from Pharmacia (Bromma, Sweden). RPMI 1640, foetal calf serum, antibiotic-antimycitic solution, 0.1% EDTA, phosphate buffered saline and trypsin were obtained from Highveld Biological (Johannesburg, South Africa). Trypan blue, ribonuclease A, propidium iodide and all other chemicals including EDTA were of reagent grade and were products marketed by Sigma Corporation U.S.A.

2. Cell culture procedures

MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines were obtained through the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), Rockville, Maryland, U.S.A. and routinely grown at 37°C with 5% CO_2 in RPMI 1640 with 5% foetal calf serum containing 2mM glutamine and the antibiotics Penicillin (100ug/ml). Streptomycin (100ug/ml) and Fungizone (0.25ug/ml). Aliquots of 10⁷ cells in 2ml media containing dimethylsulfoxide as

preservative were stored in liquid nitrogen. Cells were revived by rapid thawing and stock cultures were maintained in continuous exponential growth by weekly passage of the appropriate number of cells following trypsinization of the monolayer with (1:1) 0.25% trypsin in 0.1% EDTA phosphate buffered saline, pH 7.0. MCF-7 and T47-D cells were then conditioned to serum free cell culture media, consisting of Iscove modified Dulbeccos medium supplemented with bovine serum albumin, transferrin, lipids, 15mg/L phenol red and antibiotics. The serum concentration was gradually reduced from passage to passage until the cells were proliferating in the serum free media. When optimum growth was reached the cells were inoculated with 17ß-oestradiol 10^{-6M}, diethylstilbestrol 10^{-6M}, 1*um* tamoxifen and 1*um* 4-hydroxytamoxifen were added for 24, 48, 72, hours and 1 week respectively.

Stock solutions of the hormones were prepared in ethanol and kept frozen. Ethanol 0.1% was added to a control culture of each cell line. Cells were dislodged using two washes of 0.1% EDTA phosphate buffered saline, pH 7.4 and pelleted at 800x g for 5 minutes in a Hettich tabletop centrifuge and placed on ice. All subsequent procedures were performed at 4°C. Mean doubling times were calculated from the initial and final cell numbers for each hormone and results were expressed as: Proliferation rate =

Doubling time (control)/Doubling time in order to account for the variation in number of control population doubling among the two cell lines. Cells were ruptured in 10mM PEDG (10mM potassium phosphate, 1.5 mM EDTA, 1mM DTT, 10% glycerol) buffer using a 3ml teflon glass homogenizer on ice to obtain a final cytosol protein concentration of 2-5 mg/ml. Cytosols were prepared by centrifugation at 100,000x g for 30 mins at 4°C in a Beckman L8-80M ultracentrifuge fitted with a Type 65 fixed angle head rotor.

3. Ligand binding reactions

All ligand binding reactions were carried out at 0-5°C. Cytosols were incubated with a 5nM concentration of ³H Organon-2058, either in the presence or absence of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled Organon-2058 to estimate non specific binding in the case of progestin receptor and a 5nM concentration of 17-*beta*-[2,4,6,7-³H] oestradiol, either in the presence or absence of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled diethylstilbestrol to estimate non specific binding in the case of oestrogen receptor. The reactions were terminated by the addition of the reaction mixture to pellets of dextran coated charcoal for thirty seconds for progestin receptor and 5 minutes for oestrogen receptor and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 4 mins. Proteins were estimated by the colorimetric dye binding method of Bradford 1976 (272) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard.

4. Sucrose density gradient centrifugation

Linear gradients of 10 to 20% (w/w) sucrose were formed by layering

equal volumes of 10%, 15%, and 20% sucrose prepared in P10EDGM buffer into 13x57mm Beckman Quick-seal centrifuge tubes. Gradients were allowed to diffuse overnight at 4°C. Cleared cytosol (100 *ul*) was carefully layered on top of each gradient , sealed and centrifuged in a VTi-80 vertical tube rotor for 2½ hrs at 405 000x g and 5°C using the slowest acceleration and deceleration program. Gradients were fractionated from the top in 4 drop (100*ul*) aliquots using a peristaltic pump and a Beckman gradient fractionation system.

5. Calculation of specific binding capacity

Gradient fractions were counted in a Packard Tri-Carb Model 2000 CA scintillation counter giving an average counting efficiency of 55%. Specific binding capacity was expressed as femtomole steroid bound per milligram cytosol protein using the difference between the total binding and the binding in the presence of excess unlabelled ligand (non-specific binding). Non-specific binding is the result of the ligand binding to nonreceptor sites which are usually of low affinity and high capacity relative to the receptor. The total amount of steroid bound in such a system is the sum of that bound to receptor sites plus that bound to non-specific sites. The quantities of receptor steroid complex are calculated by subtracting non-specific binding from the total steroid bound to give specific binding capacity.

45

6. High performance ion-exchange chromatography

All chromatography was performed in a cold box at 5°C utilizing a Beckman Altex (6mmID x 210 mm) glassed column packed with a DEAE Spherodex-M obtained from Bio technics (USA). The column was equilibrated with P10EDG buffer, which had been passed through a 0.45 micron HAWP filter. The column was linked to a Packard flow-through *B*eta scintillation counter equipped with an in line LKB (Sweden) conductivity meter. Labelled cytosol was applied in 200 ul volumes. A programmed gradient elution was carried out as follows: 0 to 60% P500EDG buffer from 0 to 40 minutes, 60% P500EDG buffer from 40 -45 minutes and 100% P10EDG buffer from 45 to 60 minutes.

7. Flow cytometry

Prior to harvesting, cells were checked for viability. This was done by taking confluent cells and using 0.1% EDTA, the cells are centrifuged and aspirated to a volume of 20 ml cells and medium that does not contain foetal calf serum. Serum is known to take up trypan-blue dye and the background would appear excessively dark. Cells and media (0.5ml) were added to 1.0ml of 0.4% trypan blue in phosphate buffered saline. The dye mixture was then agitated and counted using an improved Neubauer counting chamber taking care not to overflow the chamber. Care was taken so as not to allow the dye mixture to stand for longer than 15 minutes as the viable cells would start to take up the dye. The remaining confluent cells were harvested and washed in media

containing 10% glycerol and frozen until assayed. On day of assay cells were washed in phosphate buffered saline and lightly centrifuged. The cells were then exposed (at a concentration of 1 million cells per ml of propidium iodide) to modified Krishan's reagent, containing propidium iodide, the detergent nonident-P-40 and sodium citrate prepared in phosphate buffered saline and then incubated for 20 minutes at 4°C. The cells were then exposed to 15,000 units/ml of ribonuclease A for 15 minutes at 37°C. To stop the reaction, cold phosphate buffered saline was added and the cells pelleted lightly and filtered through a nylon mesh to obtain single cell suspension. A Coulter Epics Profile II linked to the multicycle software modelling computer programme was used. Diploid DNA female red cells were used as controls. A 488nm argon laser light run at 200mw was used for fluoresence exitation. CV of flourescent beads was set < 2.0% and at low rates of 100-500 cells per second to maximise resolution. Simultaneous gating on both forward and 90° light scatter was used to exclude signals from cleaved nuclei and other debris.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Growth of human breast cancer cell lines grown in serum-free media

The MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines were conditioned over a period of a few weeks to grow in a serum-free environment. This was done by reducing the starting foetal calf serum concentration of 5% during each passage by 50% of the previous serum concentration. The proliferation rates of the MCF-7 and T47-D cell lines grown in serum free-media were compared with the cell lines grown in their original media which was RPMI-1640 containing 5% foetal calf serum. Figure 5(a) and 5(b) compares the proliferation rates of MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in RPMI-1640 and serum-free media. There appears to be little effect on the proliferation rates of either cell lines. A higher cell density than usually employed was used during adaptation (1x10⁴).

Application of the principles of defined cell culture environments to the isolation, selection and culture of cells from various tissues have revealed that the culture environment, nutrients and extracellular matrix is the key determinant of the relative kinetics of growth expression in cells. It seems unlikely that a single media will ever be devised suitable for all cell types. It is important for cells to survive and proliferate under culture conditions. Therefore, the culture media must carry out the functions previously performed by the complicated *in vivo* environment. The serum-



FIGURE 5: Proliferation rates of:

- a) MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in RPMI-1640 culture media + 5% foetal calf serum and adapted to grow in □ serum-free media containing bovine serum albumin, lipids, antibiotics and 0.015% phenol red.
- b) T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in RPMI-1640 + 5% foetal calf and adapted to grow in serum-free madia containing bovine serum albumin, lipids, antibiotics and 0.015% phenol red.

No statistical differences in their proliferation rates were noted.

free media used in these experiments was developed for activation of mammalian cells and had been found to be sufficient for the stimulation and propagation of most cells (273-280). The media was supplemented with albumin, transferrin, and lipids. Table 11 lists the complete constituents of the media used in these experiments. MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines appear very sensitive to their growth conditions, hence the importance that the culture media utilized contain adequate lipids and proteins. Clonal culture methods have revealed the extreme dependence of cell behaviour on how populations of cells modify their micro-environment (281,282). Many cells also excrete novel-like polypeptides that can act directly on cells regulating their metabolism and proliferation (283-285). Various combinations of nutrients and purified proteins may be used with little perceivable lag time.

2. The effects of oestrogen and anti-oestrogens on cell proliferation To ascertain the effects of oestrogen and anti-oestrogens on proliferation rate of cells grown in a serum-free environment, oestradiol *17B* 10^{-6M}, diethylstilbestrol 10^{-6M}, tamoxifen *1um* and 4-hydroxytamoxifen *1um* were added to the cell cultures using 0.1% ethanol as carrier. Ethanol 0.1% was added to a control flask and cell proliferation rates were monitored over a period of one week. As illustrated in figures 6(a) and 6(b) the proliferation rates of the oestrogen and synthetic oestrogenexposed MCF-7 and T47-D cells increased above the levels of the control groups. This result confirmed the proliferative properties of oestrogens

AMINO ACIDS	mg/mL	OTHER COMPONENTS	mg/L
L-Alanine	19,87	Bovine serum	
L-Arginine HCL	84,00	albumin	1000,00
L-Asparagine	27,22	Cholesterol	57,50
L-Aspartic acid	23,48	D-Glucose	4500.00
L-Cystine	28,00	Hepes	3574,50
L-Cystine 2HCL	62,57	Human Transferrin	32,00
L-Glutamic acid	59,60	Phenol red	15,00
L-Glutamine	584,00	Sodium pyruvate	87,42
Glycine	30,00	Soybean lipids	100,00
L-Histidine HCL H20	42,00	2-Mercaptoethanol	50uM
L-Isoleucine	105,00		
L-Leucine	105,00	VITAMINS	
L-Lysine HCL	146,00	D-Biotin	0,013
L-Methionine	30,00	D-Ca-Pantothenic	
L-Phenylalanine	66,00	acid, Ca salt	4,00
L-Proline	31,79	Choline chloride	4,00
L-Serine	42,00	Folic acid	4,00
L-Threonine	95,00	I-Inositol	7,20
L-Tryptophan	16,00	Nicotinic acid-	
L-Tyrosine	103,79	amide	4,00
L-Valine	94,00	Pyridoxal HCL	4,00
	à.	Riboflavin	0,40
SALTS, INORGANIC	mg/L	Thiamine HCL	4,00
CaCl2	200,00	Vitamin B12	0,013
FeCl3 6H20	0,075		
Fe(NO3)3 9H20	0,10		
KCL	400,00		-
MgS04	96,67		
NaCl	6400,00		
NaHC03	2500,00		
Na203Se	0,022		
NaH2P04H20	125,00		

TABLEII COMPOSITION OF SERUM FREE MEDIA



FIGURE 6: Proliferation rates of:

a) MCF-7 human breast cancer cells adapted to grow in serum free media under the influence of ♥ 17B oestradiol 10^{-6m},♥ diethylstilbestrol 10^{-6m},▲

tamoxifen 1um, \blacktriangle 4-OH-tamoxifen 1um and \blacksquare control with 0.1% ethanol. b) T47-D human breast cancer cells adapted to grow in serum free media under

the influence of ▼ 17B oestradiol 10^{-6m}, ▼ diethylstilbestrol 10^{-6m}, △

tamoxifen 1um, \triangleq 4-OH-tamoxifen 1um \blacksquare and control with 0.1% ethanol. Under the influence of oestrogens proliferation rates increased above those of the control.

Under the influence of tamoxifen and its' metabolites a decline in proliferation rates was noted.

on human breast cancer cells even in a serum-free environment. The antioestrogen groups, in particular the tamoxifen groups of both cell lines, showed a negative growth pattern over a period of a week. The hydroxylated tamoxifen group did not, however, approach the negative growth pattern of the tamoxifen group. This happened despite the fact that 4-OH-tamoxifen is regarded as an active metabolite of tamoxifen. These results did lend credence to the supposition that the MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cells used in these experiments are oestrogen growthresponsive and growth-inhibited in the presence of the anti-oestrogens tamoxifen and its' metabolite, the hydroxylated tamoxifen, under serum-free growth conditions.

3. Oestrogen receptor content of MCF-7 and T47-D cell lines

To test the productivity of MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines grown in serum-free culture media, oestrogen receptor levels were assayed using sucrose density gradient ultracentrifugation (SDG). Figure 7 illustrates the oestrogen receptor sedimentation profile of a) MCF-7 cells grown in RPMI-1640 culture media containing 5% foetal calf serum and b) MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media.

The sucrose density gradient technique involves firstly the reversible formation of a complex between receptor proteins and a labelled hormone. Once formed, the protein hormone complex dissociates slowly (half life of dissociation complex is greater than 20 hours at 0°C. The



FIGURE 7: SDG separation of ER **FSORDALS WARCE-7** human breast cancer cell line grown in: a) RPMI-1640 plus 5% foetal calf serum and b) serum-free media. Cytosols were incubated overnight with 5nM ³H 2,4,6,7 oestradiol *17B* in the presence \checkmark or absence \checkmark of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled DES. ALiquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and layered onto preformed sucrose gradients. Molecular markers albumin (4-5S) and aldolase (8-9S) were included. Total protein = 2.0mg/ml. The 4S isoform was undetectable. The 8S isoform = 35 fmol/mcp and 33 fmol/mcp respectively.

sedimentation coefficient of the receptor-hormone complex can be estimated from the migration of protein-bound radioactivity relative to the migration of internal markers of known sedimentation coefficient. A clear cytosolic extract labelled with tritiated steroid is layered onto a preformed sucrose gradient in a cylindrical tube and centrifuged in a vertical tube rotor in a preparative ultracentrifuge. The gradient run is terminated before the molecules of interest have reached the bottom of the tube. The gradient is then fractionated and analyzed to obtain a distribution of radioactivity as a function of fraction number. From this limited data, the sedimentation coefficient for the steroid components can be evaluated in these experiments by comparison with macromolecules such as albumin (4-5S) and aldolase sedimenting as 8-9S. (286-288).

With this method it has been determined that the sedimentation profiles of ER and PR in human breast cancer cells fall into 4 catergories. Breast tumours contain specific steroid-binding components migrating at either 4S,8S or both 4S and 8S and those in which receptors are undetectable. A quantitative assessment of the various molecular forms obtained by SDG can be calculated by subtracting the sum of the non-specific binding fractions (in distintergrations per minute DPM) from the sum of the total binding fractions (DPM) present in the isoforms to give specific binding. With the protein content of the homogenized cells, the receptor isoforms are calculated as being present in fmol per cytosol protein concentration.

In the case of ER present in the MCF-7 cells, whether grown in RPMI-1640 or serum free media only the 8S receptor is present and in almost equal amounts. Figure 8(a) and 8(b) illustrates that in the case of T47-D cells there are no measurable isoforms of ER in either culture media used.

4. Progestin receptor content of MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell line

Figure 9(a) and 9(b) illustrates the sedimentation profile of PR in the MCF-7 cell line. There is virtually no difference between the MCF-7 cell line grown in RPMI-1640 or serum-free media. The PR is present solely in the 8S isoform and quantitatively the calculated receptor amounts are similar.

It is interesting at this point to observe the role that "non-specific binding" plays in the determination of receptor binding parameters. Nonspecific binding sites are defined to be of low affinity and high capacity relative to the receptor system. However, non- specific actually means non-displaceable by a competitive steroid in the range of tritiated steroid used in the assay. The non-labelled steroid is, as a rule, generally used as the competitive inhibitor. It is essential that the binding of tritiated steroid and steroid competitor have reached equilibrium at the time of measurement.

Gold standard biochemical methods are mainly based on the


FIGURE 8: SDG separation of ER isoforms in T47-D human breast cancer cell line grown in: a) RPMI-1640 plus 5% foetal calf serum and b) serum free media. Cytosols were incubated overnight with 5nM ³H 2,4,6,7 oestradiol 17*B* in the presence \bigtriangledown or \blacksquare absence of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled DES. Aliquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and layered onto preformed sucrose gradients. Albumin (4-5S) and aldolase (8-9S) were used as markers. Total protein = 2.4 mg/ml. There were no measurable ER isoforms.



FIGURE 9: SDG separation of PR isoforms from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in a) RPMI-1640 media plus 5% foetal calf serum and b) serum-free media containing 0.015% phenol red. Cytosols were incubated overnight with 5nM ³H organon 2058 in the presence ∇ or absence ∇ of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled organon. 100ul aliquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and layered onto preformed gradients. Albumin (4-5S) and aldolase (8-9S) were used as markers.Total protein = 2.0mg/ml. The 4S isoform was undetectable. The PR 8S isoform = 380 fmol/mcp and 330 fmol/mcp respectively.

measurement of a radiolabelled steroid, usually to soluble proteins contained in the supernantant (cytosol) of a tissue homogenate. These methods differ primarily in the procedure employed to separate hormone bound to the receptor protein from that that remains unbound. The separation of bound from unbound hormone is complicated by the fact that steroids may bind to a number of proteins in addition to the receptor, including albumin, al-acidic glycoprotein, corticosteroid-binding globulin (CBG), and steroid-binding globulin (SHBG) (289). These are plasma proteins, but since human tumour specimens, including breast tumour cell lines, nearly always contain substantial amounts of plasma protein contamination, the ability of a method to distinguish these from true receptors is critical. The greater the excess of labelled hormone the greater the competition for binding to low affinity sites, but no more than 100-200 fold excess need be used. In addition, unlabelled hormone should be added either before or with labelled hormone but never after, since it will replace label only very slowly if added afterwards (48,73,128).

The specificity of the SDG assay can be further enhanced by the appopriate choice of radioactive ligand and competitors. Labelled progesterone, for example, binds PR with a very high affinity for SHBG. In order to reduce this high degree of interference, a synthetic progestin is used which has high affinity for the receptor and a greater specificity.

The unbound receptor is not very stable, and the presence of

ligand tends to stabilize the receptor by formation of a receptor-ligand complex. It is well known that many binding proteins are more stable with bound ligand than without (128,290). The earliest possible addition of ligand produces the most stability to the experiment.

Progestin receptor isoforms of T47-D cells by SDG again figure 10 (a) and (b) shows that the PR levels are almost identical in either RPMI-1640 or serum-free media used for cell culture. In both cell lines and in both culture media used, the PR isoforms are present almost exclusively as the large oligomeric untransformed 8-10S. It is this 8-10S assembly that has been shown to be a predictive indicator of an endocrine responsive breast tumour (120,121). This 8S binds to non-hormone binding proteins which includes two molecules of the 90kDa heat shock protein (hsp) and one molecule of hsp 70 (111-113,116). In this oligomeric state, the receptor proteins are basally phosphorylated and unable to bind DNA, but they are maintained in a stable conformation that allows them to bind to progestins.

Hormone binding to the 8S receptor form activates a rapid series of changes, the exact sequential order of which is still unknown. After hormone binding *in vivo*, the receptor becomes hyperphosphorylated (116-118) and several of the associated proteins (but not hsp70) dissociate, leading to a generation of the faster-sedimenting 4S receptor form (111-113,116-118). What we can assume from these results is



FIGURE 10: SDG separation of PR isoforms from T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in: a) RPMI-1640 media plus 5% foetal calf serum and b) serum free media containing 0.015% phenol red. Cytosols were incubated oc\vernight with 5nM ³H organon 2058 in the presence ∇ or absence ∇ of a 200 fold excess of unlabeeled organon. 100 *u*l aliqouts of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and layered onto preformed gradients. Albumin (4-5S) and Aldolase (8-9S) were used as markers. Total protein = 2.4mg/ml. The 4S isoform was undetectable. The PR 8S isoform = 1360 fmol/mcp and 1280 fmol/mcp respectively.

that the PR assayed from the MCF-7 and T47-D cells grown in serumfree media is indeed the intact untransformed receptor and that the lack of serum in the culture media used has not affected the conformation or binding characteristics of the progestin receptor.

Careful consideration must be given to the reported findings that while MCF-7 human breast cancer cells from various cell banks have similar morphology, they nevertheless differ in their receptor content and that despite having similar karotypes, the different sourced cells have unique biological properties. Cell selection, due to different culture conditions, have also been known to take place (291). The inherent genetic instability of cancer cells in long term culture cannot be ignored (292). Biological properties of the T47-D cell line have not always been consistent between laboratories While the original cell line was reported ER-positive, some workers found that the T47-D cells actualy lacked measurable ER (293). This suggests that variants of the cell line may have arisen, or even that the wild-type ER has given rise to mutant cDNA's. This genetic-damage may even be largely random. It is also conceivable that unrestrained growth and imperfect intracellular relations are conditions that may arise in so many ways that no common denominator exists at the molecular level but only at a crude descriptive biological level (263).

Phenol red, which bears a structural resemblance to some steroidal

oestrogens, is used as a pH indicator in tissue culture media (Figure 11). Phenol red has been found to bind to the oestrogen receptor of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells with an affinity of 0.0001% that of oestradiol (k^d =2x10⁻⁵m). It stimulates the proliferation of oestrogen receptor positive breast cancer cells in a dose-dependent manner (294,295). Levels of progestin receptor are also reportedly higher in media containing phenol red (294,295). In these sets of experiments, however, the phenol red was retained in the serum-free media so as to allow a small amount of low affinity oestrogen-like compounds to mimic an *in vivo* situation. Other growth factors such as insulin, epidermal growth factor, insulin growth factor and hormones such as prolactin, androgens, glucocorticoid steroids and thyroid hormone have also been implicated in the induction of cell proliferation (296-303).

5. High performance ion-exchange chromatography of progestin receptor in MCF-7 and T47-D breast cancer cell lines

High performance ion-exchange liquid chromatography (HPIEC) has been found to be not only an ideal research tool for the measurement of steroid receptors but also an ideal medium for receptor isoform resolution (304-307). Figure 12 illustrates the assay of PR by HPIEC on MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines grown in a) RPMI-1640 plus 5% foetal calf serum and b) serum-free media. As may be discerned from the chromatograms, they appeared almost identical. The chromatogram gave three distinct isoforms of the PR, although the first peak fell in the void volume (10mM









FIGURE 12: HPIEC of PR from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells.

a) MCF-7 cells grown in RPMI-1640 media.

b) MCF-7 cells grown in serum free media.

Cytosols were incubated overnight with 5nM ³H organon 2058 in the presence or absence or a 200 fold excess of unlabelled organon 2058. 200*u*l aliquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and injected onto a glass column packed with DEAE Spherodex-M. The column was linked to a flow-through *beta* counter equipped with an in line conductivity meter. A linear gradient elution of P10EDG to 60% P500EDG was used. Three isoforms were eluted, at the void volume, P120EDG, P300EDG, and a shoulder peak at P180EDG respectively. phosphate buffer), and as may be observed, most of the "non-specific" binding occured in this area. The second peak was at 120mM phosphate buffer and the third occurred at 300mM. There did appear to be a discernible shoulder peak at 180mM phosphate buffer which was extremely difficult to fully isolate. Column recoveries were consistently in the order of 95%.

Figure 13 illustrates the isoforms of PR by HPIEC on T47-D cells grown in (a) RPMI-1640 plus 5% foetal calf serum and (b) serum free media. The chromatograms appeared almost identical. Three distinct isoforms of the PR were noted. The first peak fell in the void volume and also contained most of the "non-specific" binding. The second peak was at 120mM phosphate buffer and the third was at 300mM phosphate buffer.

HPIEC is a very effective technique with high powers of resolution provided the isoforms to be separated are capable of existing as positively or negatively charged ions. The stationary phase of this method of chromatography consists of a solid substance that participates in the separation process by interacting directly with components of a mixture. The majority of ion-exchangers are synthetic resins that are fabricated in the form of very small, uniform beads.

Chemically, each solid bead is composed of large polymeric chains. The ability of the resin material to function as an ion-exchanger is due to the



FIGURE 13: HPIEC of PR from T47-D human breast cancer cells.

- a) T47-D cells grown in RPMI-1640 media.
- b) T47-D cells grown in serum free media.

Cytosols were incubated overnight with 5nM ³H organon in the presence or absence of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled organon 2058. 200*u*l aliquots of each reation were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and injected onto a glass column packed with DEAE Spherodex-M. The column was linked to a flow-through *beta* counter equiped with an in line conductivity meter. A linear gradient elution of P10EDG to 60% P500EDG buffer was used. Three isoforms were eluted, at the void volume, P120EDG, P300EDG and a shoulder peak at P180EDG respectively.

presence of several ionisable chemical groupings that are attached along the length of the polymeric chain. The stationary phase thus has fixed charges, each having an associated counter-ion of an opposite charge to the starting buffer. The ionic solute distributes itself between the mobile liquid and the stationary phases by exchanging ions with a counter ion of the solid electrolyte as it passes through the column. Since various ionic solutes have different affinities for the exchange site, the solutes pass through the column at different rates (Figure 14). The analysis of steroid hormone receptors on the basis of their surface charge properties has been generally successfully performed on polyionic columns such as ATP-sepharose (308), carboxymethyl-sephadex (309), phosphocellulose (310), DNA-cellulose (311) or alternatively on anion-exchangers such as DEAE-Sephadex (312).

The extensive literature on both conventional gel-type ion-exchange resins for proteins and HPLC packings indicate that the ideal packing for HPIEC should be mechanically stable to mobile phase, of high ionexchange capacity, completely hydrophilic and chemically stable over a broad pH range, available in 5 to 10 micron size as well as spherical, easy to pack and inexpensive (313). Unfortunately, no packing material is available at the present time that appears to possess all these necessary properties. Retention on IEC is controlled by two independent phenomena, i.e. the inherent size-exclusion contribution from differential penetration of solutes of macroporous matrices and electrostatic



•

FIGURE 14: Explanatory diagram of IEC.

partitioning at the surface of the ion-exchanger (314).

This inherent size-exclusion properties of HPIEC packings causes band spreading to occur as solute size approaches pore diameter. Because IEC is a surface-directed process, it would seem that ion-exchange capacity should be proportional to the surface area of a packing. Greater than 95% of the surface of a porous support is, however, inside the pore network, and a molecule must be able to penetrate the pore matrix to reach the surface. It has also been determined that column length plays a minimal role in the resolution of proteins. Resolution on 5cm columns is almost equivalent to that of 25cm columns (315), although with short columns low and dead volume connecting tubing and flow cells are essential.

Several laboratories have utilized HPIEC to resolve ionic isoforms of steroid hormone receptors (266,305,306). The speed and reproducibility of this method make it a desirable research tool and the recovery of applied receptor as a function of radioactivity may, as in our case, be 90% or greater. This methodology is suited to rapid, multidimensional analysis, especially coupled to attributes such as dead volume, and the relative ease of the application of on line, flow-through methods of conductivity and radiation detection which are available in our laboratory (307).

HPIEC of PR in oestrogen treated MCF-7 and T47-D breast cancer cell lines

Over the past few years there has been great interest in understanding the mechanisms by which hormones affect cell proliferation and protein synthesis (13-15,17,26,34,37,50). Culture systems have been used in many analyses, since they enable responses to be monitored under carefully controlled conditions of hormone exposure. Oestrogens are well known to stimulate a variety of biosynthetic processes in hormone responsive target cells (87). They appear to influence progestin receptor synthesis (98,110).

Concurrently it must be borne in mind that the *in vitro* cell culture conditions may give a very simplistic view of the biology of tumourgenesis and that *in vivo*, the regulation of growth of breast tumour cells is the product of complex interactions among stromal, vascular and epithelial tumour elements. At present these interactions are still poorly understood. No model system currently available can hope to reproduce *in vivo* conditions accurately. Experimental result differences obtained from a single model system should be viewed with caution, since substantial differences in the characteristics and behaviour of the same breast tumour cell line from different laboratories have been noted(291).

Oestradiol-17B and DES were added to the MCF-7 and T47-D cells

grown in serum-free media. PR levels and HPIEC analysis was carried out on these cell cultures at set time intervals of 24, 48, 72 and 168 hours to ascertain the effects these oestrogens may elicit on PR levels and PR isoform distribution. Figure 15 indicates the changes that occurred to the PR in the MCF-7 breast cell lines over a period of a week. There was a marked decrease in the PR levels, particularly with oestradiol-*17B* administration; this despite the fact that there was over the same time period and on the same cells an increase in the proliferation rates over the control group of cells. HPIEC of the PR was carried out on the same cells taken at the same time as the PR levels were assayed.

Figure 16 illustrates the results of the MCF-7 group of cells treated with oestradiol-*17B*. The most striking event of these chromatograms is that there is confirmation of the decreasing levels over time of PR and the dissapearance of the isoform at 120mM phosphate buffer coinciding with a dramatic fall in PR levels.

Figure 17 illustrates the DES-treated group of MCF-7 cells. Once again the same phenomena has occurred. Accompaning the fall of PR levels there is the corresponding dissappearance of the isoform eluting at 120mM phosphate buffer after 72 hours of the MCF-7 cells being under the influence of DES in culture.

In another group of experiments, the T47-D breast cancer cells were



FIGURE 15: Histogram of PR levels from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of *17B* oestradiol and DES. PR levels were measured before inoculation of oestrogens and again at 24,48,72 and 168 hours respectively.

Cytosols were incubated overnight with ³H organon 2058 in the presence or absence of a 200 fold excess off unlabelled organon 2058. Aliquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and added to scintillation fluid and counted in a *beta* scintillation counter with a counting efficiency of 60%. Specific binding capacity was expressed in fmol/mcp using the difference between the total binding and the non-specific binding.



÷

FIGURE 16: HPIEC of PR from MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of 17B-oestradiol for varying periods of time. a) PR from control MCF-7 cells not under oestrogen influence. b) PR from MCF-7 cells 24 hours after 17B-oestradiol inoculation. c) PR from MCF-7 cells 48 hours after 17B-oestradiol inoculation. d) PR from MCF-7 cells 72 hours after 17B-oestradiol inoculation. e) PR from MCF-7 cells 168 hours after 17B-oestradiol inoculation. 74



FIGURE 17: HPIEC of PR from MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of DES for varying periods of time.

- a) PR from control MCF-7 cells not under DES influence.
- b) PR from MCF-7 cells 24 hours after DES inoculation.
- c) PR from MCF-7 cells 48 hours after DES inoculation.
- d) PR from MCF-7 cells 72 hours after DES inoculation.
- e) PR from MCF-7 cells 168 hours after DES inoculation.

treated in an identical fashion to the MCF-7 cells. The T47-D cells were inoculated with oestradiol-*17B* and DES and grown under the influence of these oestrogens for a week respectively. Determination of PR levels, were carried out at 24,48,72 and 168 hours. The PR levels of the control was 1280 fmol/mg cytosol protein and may be discerned from figure 18, decreased over the period of 1 week to 340 fmol/mcp for the oestradiol-*17B* group and 590 fmol/mcp in the DES group. As was the case with MCF-7 cells, the decrease of PR levels with the synthetic oestrogens was not as great as with the Oestradiol-*17B* group.

Figure 19 illustrates that, although a decrease in PR levels (over the time period of a week) was evident in the oestrogen group, the HPIEC isoform at 120mM phosphate buffer and as the isoform at 300mM phosphate buffer remained largely intact over the inoculation period of one week. Figure 20 shows that the same occurred in the synthetic DES-treated T47-D group of cells.

The behaviour of the T47-D cells while under the influence of oestrogens appeared to have similar proliferation rates, loss PR levels. On HPIEC, it was evident that, although loss of PR level occurred, the chromatogram remained largely similar to the control chromatogram viz.no loss of PR isoform occurred. However, with the MCF-7 cells under the influence of oestrogens, there was on HPIEC a distinct loss of isoform at 120mM phosphate buffer.



FIGURE 18: Histogram of T47-D human breast cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of *17B*-oestradiol and DES. PR levels were measured before inoculation with oestrogen and again at 24,48,72 and 168 hours respectively. Declines in PR were noted.Cytosols were incubated with 5nM ³H organon 2058 in the presence or absence of unlabelled organon 2058. Aliqouts of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and added to scintillation fluid and counted in a *beta* scintillation counter with 60% efficiency. Specific binding capacity was expressed in fmol/mcp using the difference between the total binding and the non-specific binding.



FIGURE 19: HPIEC of PR from T47-D cells grown in serum-free media under the control of *17B*-oestradiol for varying periods of time.
a) PR from control T47-D cells not under oestrogen control.
b) PR from T47-D cells 24 hours after *17B*-oestradiol inoculation.
c) PR from T47-D cells 48 hours after *17B*-oestradiol inoculation.
d) PR from T47-D cells 72 hours after *17B*-oestradiol inoculation.

e) PR from T47-D cells 168 hours after 17B-oestradiol inoculation.



FIGURE 20: HPIEC of PR from T47-D cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of DES for varying periods of time.

- a) PR from T47-D cells not under oestrogen control.
- b) PR from T47-D cells 24 hours after DES inoculation.c) PR from T47-D cells 48 hours after DES inoculation.
- d) PR from T47-D cells 72 hours after DES inoculation.
- e) PR from T47-D cells 168 hours after DES inoculation.

Progestin receptor levels and HPIEC of anti-oestrogen treated MCF-7 and T47-D cells.

Tamoxifen and 4-hydroxytamoxifen were added to the MCF-7 cell line grown in serum-free media. The PR levels were measured at timed intervals for 24, 48, 72 and 168 hours respectively. Figure 21 illustrates the downward trend of the PR levels over a period of one week. The tamoxifen group of cells showed a greater fall in PR levels than the hydroxylated group of cells. This decrease was accompanied by a decline in the proliferation rates of treated MCF-7 cells.

Figure 22 gives a pictorial indication of the PR chromatograms on HPIEC from MCF-7 cells cultured in a serum-free environment under the influence of tamoxifen carried out at timed intervals after treatment commenced, viz. 24,48,72 and 168 hours. It was noted that the loss of the isoform at 120mM phosphate buffer occurred at 72 hours after tamoxifen inoculation and that the isoform at 300mM phosphate buffer was barely discernible after one week. This may have been a function of the extremely low levels of PR reached at that time.

Figure 23 with the hydroxylated tamoxifen inoculated MCF-7 group, the loss of the isoform at 120mM phosphate buffer was noted at one week but a small discernible peak at 300mM phosphate buffer was still observed after one week. At the end of a week's incubation with tamoxifen and 4-hydroxytamoxifen, the anti-oestrogens were withdrawn



FIGURE 21: Histogram of PR levels from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of tamoxifen and 4hydroxytamoxifen. PR levels were measured before inoculation of antioestrogens and again at 24,48,72 and 168 hours respectively.

Cytosols were incubated overnight with 5nM ³H organon 2058 in the presence or absence of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled organon 2058. Aliquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and added to scintillation fluid and counted in a *beta* scintillation counter. Counter efficiencies were in the order of 60%. Specific binding capacity was expressed in fmol/mcp using the difference between the total binding and the non-specific binding.



FIGURE 22: HPIEC of PR from MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of tamoxifen for varying periods of time.

- a) PR from MCF-7 cells no under tamoxifen control.
- b) PR from MCF-7 cells 24 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.
- c) PR from MCF-7 cells 48 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.
- d) PR from MCF-7 cells 72 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.
- e) PR from MCF-7 cells 168 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.



FIGURE 23: HPIEC of PR from MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of 4-hydroxytamoxifen for varying periods of time.

- a) PR from MCF-7 cells no under tamoxifen control.
- b) PR from MCF-7 cells 24 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.
- c) PR from MCF-7 cells 48 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.
- d) PR from MCF-7 cells 72 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.
- e) PR from MCF-7 cells 168 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.

from the culture media and an attempt was made to grow these cells in either RPMI-1640 plus 5% foetal calf serum or in serum free-media, but to no avail. Proliferation of cells could not be achieved.

With T47-D cells under the influence of anti-oestrogens in a serum-free environment, it was noted that there was also a sharp decline in PR levels over the same period of a week as was the case with the MCF-7 cells. Figure 24 illustrates this. Figure 25 shows the chromatograms of the PR of the tamoxifen-treated group of T47-D cells. Unlike the chromatograms of the MCF-7 anti-oestrogen groups, the PR isoforms at 120mM and 300mM phosphate buffer respectively have largely remained intact. In Figure 26 the same applies to the hydroxylated tamoxifen-treated T47-D cells. Once again the HPIEC chromatograms have remained largely intact during the inoculation period of one week.

8. DNA Analysis by flow cytometry of oestrogen and anti-oestrogen treated MCF-7 and T47-D cells.

Flow cytometry allows the assessment of the DNA content and estimation of cell cycle characteristics of tumours. This may provide information on many common cancers (316). Optical resolution is a prerequisite to prevent inaccurate calculations of the percentage cells in the cell cycle phases. In the context of DNA analysis, resolution reflects the capability of the instrument to distinguish similar but not identical DNA quantities.



FIGURE 24: Histogram of PR levels from T47-D human breast cancer cells. grown in serum-free media under the influence of tamoxifen and 4hydroxytamoxifen. PRlevels were measured before inoculation of antioestrogens and again at 24,48,72 and 168 hours respectively. Decline in PR levels were noted. Cytosols were incubated overnight with ³H organon 2058 in the presence or absence of a 200 fold excess of unlabelled organon 2058. Aliquots of each reaction were cleared of unbound ligand with DCC and added to scintillation fluid and counted in a *beta* sctillation counter with counting efficiency of 60%. Specific binding capacity was expressed in fmol/mcp using the difference between total binding and non-specific binding.



FIGURE 25: HPIEC of PR from T47-D cells grown in serum free media under the influence of tamoxifen for varying periods of time.

- a) PR from T47-D cells not under tamoxifen control.
- b) PR from T47-D cells 24 hours after tamoxifeninoculation.
- c) PR from T47-D cells 48 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.
- d) PR from T47-D cells 72 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.
 e) PR from T47-D cells 168 hours after tamoxifen inoculation.
- e) PR HOM 147-D certs 168 hours after camoxiten inocutation.



FIGURE 26: HPIEC of PR from T47-D cells grown in serum-free media under the influence of 4-hydroxytamoxifen for varying periods of time.
a) PR from T47-D cells no under 4-hydroxytamoxifen control.
b) PR from T47-D cells 24 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.
c) PR from T47-D cells 48 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.
d) PR from T47-D cells 72 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.
e) PR from T47-D cells 168 hours after 4-hydroxytamoxifen inoculation.

In order for the analysis of the treated MCF-7 (and for that matter the T47-D cells) to be understood. Figure 27 represents an example of a histogram that is obtained from the Coulter Epics^R flow cytometer. When cells are labelled with fluorescent molecules, extremely sensitive, specific and rapid measurements can be made using flow cytometry. Large numbers of cells prepared in free suspension flow within a fluid stream in a single file past a laser beam where they are individually evaluated. Light is scattered as the cells pass through the laser light and generates fluorescent light. Scattered light is at the same wavelength as that of the laser beam. If the cells have been bound by a reporter fluorescent molecule, the flourochrome will transiently absorb the laser light and then emit it at another light frequency.

The flow cytometer is equipped with photomultiplier tubes for this emitted light which not only detects the flourescent signal, but quantitates its intensity. The intensity of the emitted light is directly proportional to the amount of the fluorescent compound bound to the cells or particle (figure 28). Evaluating large numbers of cells quantitatively and reproducibly by flow cytometry increases the statistical confidence and precision of the data. In DNA content analysis the relative DNA content of the nucleus of the cell is evaluated. The fluorochrome most commonly used for this analysis is propidium iodide (figure 29). One molecule propidium iodide (PI) binds stoichiometrically to five DNA nucleotides. Propidium iodide binds to DNA in cells at all

EPICS^(R) PROFILE

COULTER CYTOMETRY TEST RESULTS



FIGURE 27: Flow cytometer histogram.

Representative histogram of cell number (y-axis) versus fluorescence/FL2 (x-axis). The percentage cells in the G_0G_1 , S-phase and G_2M - phases were designated by cursors 1 (55.3%), 2 (26.7%) and 3 (12.4%) respectively. The sum of the percentages included in cursors 1,2, and 3 was 94.4% - the remaining 5.6% reflected cellular debris.

The mean channel number of G_2M (426 representing 4n) is approximately twice that of the mean channel number of G_0G_1 (214 representing 2n). The percentage HPCV values for cursor 1 (2.42) and 3 (2.45) were less than 3%. The large % hpcv value for cursor 2 (10.4) reflects the width of the S-phase "peak" - the amount of DNA in the S-phase varied predictably from 2n right up to 4n. The SD values showed a similar trend for the same reason (6.8 for cursor 1; 10.3 for cursor 3 and 51.2 for cursor 2).

The DNA index for the histogram was 1.07. This was calculated by dividing the mean channel number of the G_0G_1 -phase peak by the mean channel number (always calibrated to 200) of the control female DNA derived from peripheral blood lymphocytes.







FIGURE 29: Chemical structure of propidium iodide.

stages of the cell division cycle and the intensity with which a cell's nucleus emits light is directly proportional to it's DNA content (317).

Accessibility to the cell nucleus was acccomplished by permeabilizing the cell membrane or by stripping away the cytoplasm with detergents such as Triton-100 and Nonident-40. Polyethylene glycol was used to stabilize the DNA. Optimal staining with propidium iodide was obtained at a cell concentration of $2-3 \times 10^6$ cells/50*ug*/ml of propidium iodide. PI staining usually occurs in the dark. Since many nucleotide binding dyes bind to both DNA and double stranded RNA, the latter was removed by digestion with ribonuclease. The highest quality ribonuclease should be used to minimise the presence of contaminating proteolytic enzymes and DNase (318,319).

One of the characteristics of many malignancies is the presence of an abnormal chromosome number, one that is not a multiple of 23. These particular cells are called DNA "aneuploid". Some of the DNA abnormalities in cancer can be very subtle and others may involve gross chromosomal aberrations. Most normal cells in the body at any one time are in a quiescent stage, termed G_0 . As cells respond to signals to divide they move into the G_1 stage where RNA and the proteins necessary for DNA synthesis are produced. The replication of total cellular DNA occurs in the synthetic stage termed S-phase. At the end of the S-phase the cell contains twice as much its original DNA content but is still bound by one
external membrane. In preparation for cell division further proteins are elaborated in a phase termed G_2 . The stage at which the cell actually divides into two daughter cells is termed *M* for "mitosis". The length of each of the phases of the cell cycle is a characteristic of the individual cell population.

The representative DNA histogram in figure 30 highlights the effects of one week exposure of oestradiol-*17B*, DES, tamoxifen, 4-hydroxytamoxifen had on DNA synthesis, and consequently on the distribution of MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media in the various cell cycle phases. The control MCF-7 cells grown only in serum-free media without any hormone supplementation showed that 56% of the cells were in the G_0G_1 phase and were possibly diploid in DNA content. Fifty six percent of the cells appeared to be in the synthetic S-phase. Unfortunately, exact ploidy definitions could only be possible by the use of Bromodeoxyuridase (BrDU), which is a halogenated thymidine analogue and is only incorporated into the S-phase DNA cells (320).

Following a week in an oestrogen environment cell cycle perturbations seem to have taken place in the MCF-7 cells and the S-phase transit times have been accelerated. The G_0G_1 phase was now 13%, while the S-phase was 66% and the M-phase had moved to 12%. The MCF-7 cells that were exposed to anti-oestrogens also showed a decrease in the G_0G_1 phase with a flux of cells into the S-phase. However, repeatedly great



FIGURE 30: Representative cytokinetic data from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells under the influence of oestrogens and anti-oestrogens.

Representative histograms of cell number (y-axis) versus DNA content (X-axis).

- a) Control MCF-7 cells grown in serum-free media without hormone or antihormone. G_0G_1 phase = 36%, S-phase = 56%.
- b) MCF-7 cells exposed to 17B-oestradiol for one week. G_0G_1 phase = 13%, S-phase = 66%.
- c) MCF-7 cells exposed to DES for one week. G_0G_1 phase = 14%, Sphase = 66%.
- d) MCF-7 cells exposed to tamoxifen for one week. G₀G₁ phase = 11%, Sphase = 71% and cellular debris comprised 14%.
- e) MCF-7 cells exposed to 4 hydroxytamoxifen for one week. G_0G_1 phase = 11%, S-phase = 71% and cellular debris comprised 14%.

difficulty was experienced in finding nuclear particles. This is an indication of either cell death or apoptosis.

The representative DNA histogram in figure 31 highlights the effects that a weeks exposure of oestradiol-*17B*, DES, tamoxifen and 4hydroxytamoxifen had on DNA synthesis and consequently on the distribution of T47-D cells grown in serum free-media in the various cell cycle phases. The control T47-D cells had 40% of the cells were in G_0G_1 phase and 43% were in S-phase. After an oestrogen-rich environment, there appeared to be a marked shift to the left with 81% of the cells in the G_0G_1 phase and only 9% in the synthetic S-phase. The T47-D cell line under the influence of anti-oestrogens showed a marked shift to the left with cellular debris comprising 64% of the total cells.

Remodelling of both the MCF-7 and T47-D cell lines occurred within an oestrogen-rich environment. With the observation that DNA remodelling with a shift to the right occurred in the MCF-7 cell line. These results may be coupled with those obtained by HPIEC where the PR level decline was accompanied by a shift in receptor isoforms. This leads to the speculation that these MCF-7 cells may indeed be a heterogenous population. The MCF-7 cells under the influence of anti-oestrogens appeared to be hormone responsive although there were cell cycle perturbations with a shift to the S-phase which is highly suggestive of a heterogenous population within the cell line.

95



FIGURE 31: Representative cytokinetic data from T47-D human breast cancer cells under the influence of oestrogens and anti-oestrogens.

Representativenhistograms of cell number (y-axis) versus DNA content (x-axis).

- a) Control T47-D cells grown only in serum-free media without hormone or anti- hormone. G_0G_1 phase = 40% and the S-phase = 40%.
- b) T47-D cells exposed to 17B oestradiol for 1 week. G_0G_1 phase =81% and the S-phase =9.0%.
- c) T47-D cells exposed to DES for 1 week. G_oG₁ PHASE = 81% and the Sphase 11%.
- d) T47-D cells exposed to tamoxifen for 1 week. A marked shift to the left with cellular debris comprising 64% of the total cell population.
- e) T47-D cells exposed to tamoxifen for 1 week. A marked shift to the left with cellular debris comprising 66% of the total population.

With the T47-D cells under the influence of oestrogens, the shift away from the synthetic phase is indicative of remodelling of the cells. However, with the T47-D cells under the influence of anti-oestrogens and the marked increase in cellular debris may be indicative of hormone responsiveness.

The MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cell lines have been successfully grown long-term in our laboratory in RPMI-1640 plus 5% foetal calf serum. The conditioning of these cells to grow in serum free media was relatively problem free. The baseline PR levels, SDG profiles and HPIEC resolutions were repeatedly almost identical as was the cell lines proliferation rates. After a week in an oestrogen-rich environment, a declination in PR levels occured. On HPIEC, altered chromatograms were observed. Decreases were also observed when the cells were placed in anti-oestrogen rich culture media. There were also subtle differences on flow cytometry between the two cell lines with the T47-D cell line appearing to be more hormone-responsive in an anti-oestrogen rich environment than the MCF-7 cells.

Flow cytometric analysis allows an assessment of the extent of heterogeneity within a population of cells. An assessment was made of the two cell lines used before oestrogen loading and at the end of a week of loading. In the MCF-7 line it appeared that a "remodelling" of the cell had occurred i.e. one population of cells had a distinct growth advantage over the other. With the decrease in PR levels and isoform alterations on HPIEC, this may imply that the oestrogen-regulatory mechanism rendered defective beyond the initial interaction of the steroid-receptor complex.

While a normal tissue may respond uniformly to the regulatory signals of hormones, the genetic instability and heterogeneity that characterize malignant cells may render them incapable of a uniform response. Instead subpopulations, having unique programs, respond differently to the hormone signal in different culture conditions. The result could possibly be a waxing and waning of the selected cell subsets, ultimately leading to remodelling of the tumour to one with different biological properties. If oestrogen not only leads classically to the synthesis of PR but also has the ability to decrease PR levels and remodel PR biochemically under altered culture conditions, this makes for great concern. This underpins our simplistic view of *in vitro* models of MCF-7 and T47-D human breast cancer cells and reminds us of the complexities that exist in unraveling tumour cell growth and differentiation.

Tumour heterogeneity, while becoming one of the major prognostic determinants of treatment selection in the late 20th century remains one of the major hurdles in the cure of a large number of patients, even when optimal drug dose intensity is delivered. Our understanding of the interactions between clinical and biological factors and how to construct probabilities for prognosis from these interactions, remains largely incomplete. In the final analysis survival, depends primarily on the presence or absence of micro-metastasis and on the ability of systemic treatment to control growth and the inherent instability of the tumour cell.

The precise mechanism/s by which tamoxifen achieves it's anti-tumour effects are still unknown. The drug appears to act primarily by competing with oestradiol for receptor sites in the cell nucleus, causing oestrogen blockade (151-157). This, however, does not explain the reason why the T47-D cells, being ostensibly ER poor, should in fact be tamoxifen responsive. Several alternative mechanisms of action have been postulated. Tamoxifen may inhibit cell proliferation by modulating the production of transforming growth factors a and b that help to regulate cell proliferation (161,162). It may bind to cytoplasmic anti-oestrogenic binding sites, increasing intracellular drug levels. In turn this may lead to an increase in SHBG, reducing the availability of free oestrogen for diffusion into tumour cells and decreasing the circulating insulin like growth factor 1 (163). This would modify the endocrinological regulation of cell kinetics. It has also been reported that tamoxifen may act as an inhibitor of tumour angiogenesis (155, 156, 166). Tamoxifen has also been shown to impair tumour initiation for as long as the administration of the drug is maintained (1).

Many parts of the jigsaw puzzle still need to be identified and clarified.

99

Breast cancer is indeed a multifactorial disease with steroid hormones and their receptors representing only a small component of that jigsaw. Questions that need to be addressed include the loss of functional ER. This in turn encompasses the genomic deletion of the gene itself, mutations or rearrangements of the gene, down regulation of transcription at the promotor level, methylation within the coding domain or the promotor region and altered message which occurs with alternative splicing.

CONCLUSION

In vitro cell culture models designed to assess the role of oestrogen or progestin agonists in tumour cell proliferation have generated contradictory results. Experiments can literally be cited in support of any argument that these agonists inhibit, stimulate or have no effect on growth. Explanations for the lack of a consensus are thus as varied as the results.

Responses of cells in culture are critically dependent on the conditions in which they are grown. In a rich medium, where the growth is optimized, further growth may be difficult to demonstrate experimentally while inhibitory stimuli may be exaggerated. In a deprived medium the reverse may be true, although here key cofactors may be lacking. There is no simple solution to these inherent problems. Couple this generic uncertainty with other variables including: the use of different cell lines, heterogeneity and genetic instability (even within the the same cell line), factors such as insulin, insulin-like growth factors, serum, epidermal growth factors, transforming growth factors, retinoic acid (other than oestradiol) and its antagonists, then these may directly or indirectly modulate sensitivity through regulation of PR levels. It is possible that no physiological consensus is likely to be forthcoming using these in vitro models. Nevertheless, these models remain invaluable for the analysis of molecular mechanisms of oestrogen and antioestrogen actions and to demonstrate the complexities inherent in tumour biology.

Biochemical assays remain the best available quantitative assessment of steroid receptors at present. The use of highly efficient synthetic progestins as ligands for the biochemical assays have given credence to reliable quantitative PR levles. HPLC, particularlarly in ion-exchange mode, has proven to be a very useful tool in the isolation of steroid receptor isoforms. The use of flow cytometry, however, allows one the opportunity to confirm hetrogeneity.

There is little doubt that the tumour cell is largely heterogeneous and that the PR present in MCF-7 and T47-D exhibit a degree of heterogeneity. Receptors are also generally shown to be capable of remodelling under the influence of the given environment. Nevertheless, the questions as to why and how this remodelling takes place remain. It is not really surprising that due to the inherent genetic instability of the tumour cells, mutations that occur are likely to be selective. Since steroid hormones have important growth regulatory functions, and PR heterogeneity could also be a reflection of underlying ER heterogeneity. Mutant and variant ER'S have also recently been described.

The progesterone receptor exists in a A and B isoform, and since both homo-and heterodimers can form between the A and B isoforms, three possible classes of receptor dimers can bind to a PRE, each having a potentially different transcription regulatory capacity. This diversity in the repertoire of responses to one hormone sets progesterone apart from the regulatory information carried by other sex steroid hormones. However, no proof exists that both isoforms are in the same cell. The tissue-specific effects of the two PR isoforms still remain to be studied. Do mutant/variant PR's exist? What is the role these variants are likely to play in the development of tumour resistance to hormonal therapy? How may they be modified by drugs? These questions are but a few where future focus may concentrate in our endeavour to understand the complexities of cell regulation.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Marshall, E. Search for a killer: Focus shifts from fat to hormones. Science. 259: 618-621 (1993).
- Beatson, G.T. On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mama: Suggestions for a new method of treatment with illustrated cases. *Lancet.* 2: 104-107 (1896).
- Huggins, C. and Dao, T.L.Y. Adrenalectomy and oophorectomy in the treatment of advanced carcinoma of the breast. J.Am.Med.Assoc. 151: 1388-1394 (1953).
- Folca, P.J., Glascock, R.F. and Irvine, W.T. Studies with tritiumlabelled hexoestrol in advanced breast cancer. *Lancet.* 2: 796-798 (1961).
- Huggins, C. and Bergenstal, D.M. Inhibition of human mammary and prostatic cancers by adrenalectomy. *Cancer Res.* 12: 134-141 (1952).
- Luft, R. and Olivecrona, H. Experience with hypophysectomy in man. J.Neurosurg. 10: 301-316 (1953).

- Pearson, O.H., Ray, B.S., Harrold, C.C., West, C.D., Li, M.C., Maclean, J.P. and Lipsett, M.B. Hypophysectomy in the treatment of advanced cancer. *J.Am.Med.Assoc.* 161: 17-21 (1956).
- Nathanson, I.T. Clinical investigative experience with steroid hormones in breast cancer. *Cancer.* 5: 754-762 (1952).
- 9. Haddow, A., Watkinson, J.M. and Patterson, E. Influence of synthetic oestrogens upon advanced malignant disease. *Br. Med. J.*2: 393-398 (1944).
- Cole, M.P., Jones, C.T.A. and Todd, I.D.H. A new anti oestrogenic agent in late breast cancer. An early clinical appraisal of ICI 46,474. *Br.J.Cancer.* 25: 270-275 (1971).
- Ward, H.W.C. Anti-oestrogen therapy for breast cancer: A trial of tamoxifen at two dose levels. *Br.J.Cancer.* 1: 13-14 (1973).
- 12a. Systematic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal, cytotoxic, or immune therapy. 133 randomised trials involving 31,000 recurrences and 24,000 deaths among 75,000 women. *Lancet.* 339: 1-15 (1992).
- 12b. Systematic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal,

cytotoxic, or immune therapy. Early breast cancer trialists collaborative group. *Lancet.* **339**: 71-85 (1992).

- Jensen, E.V. Hormone dependency of breast cancer. Cancer. 47: 2319-2326 (1981).
- Jensen, E.V., Greene, G.L., Closs, L.E., DeSombre, E.R. and Nadji,
 M. Receptors reconsidered: A 20 year perspective. *Recent Prog.Horm.Res.* 38: 1-40 (1982).
- Jensen, T. and Jacobson, H.I. Basic guide to the mechanism of estrogen action. *Recent Prog.Horm.Res.* 18: 387-414 (1962).
- Noteboom, W.D. and Gorski, J. Stereospecific binding of oestrogens in the rat uterus. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 111: 559-568 (1965).
- Gorski, J., Toft, D., Shyamala, G., Smith, D. and Notides, A.
 Hormone receptor studies on the interaction of oestrogen with the uterus. *Recent Prog.Horm.Res.* 24: 45-81 (1968).
- Jensen, T., Suzuki, T., Kawashima, T., Stumpf, W.E., Jungblut,
 P.W. and DeSombre, E.R. A two step mechanism for the

interaction of oestradiol with the rat uterus. *Proc.Natl.Acad. Sci.USA.* **59**: 632-638 (1968).

- King, W.J. and Greene, G.L. Monoclonal antibodies localize oestrogen receptor in the nuclei of target cells. *Nature.* 307: 745-747 (1984).
- Wehlsons, W.V., Lieberman, M.E. and Gorski, J. Nuclear localization of unoccupied oestrogen receptors. *Nature*. 307: 747-749 (1984).
- Perrot-Applanat, M., Logeat, F., Groyer-Picard, M. T. and Milgrom, E. Immunocytochemical study of mammalian progesterone receptor using monoclonal antibodies. *Endocrinology.* 12: 1276-1285 (1985).
- Tan, J., Joseph, D.R. and Quamby, V.E. The rat androgen receptor: primary structure, autoregulation of its messenger ribonucleic acid and immunocytochemical localization of the receptor protein. *Molecular Endocrinology*. 12: 1276-1285 (1988).
- Mcguire, W.L., Horwitz, K.B., Pearson, O.H. and Segaloff, A.
 Current status of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast

cancer. Cancer. 39: 2934-2947 (1977).

- Jensen, E.V., Block, G.E., Smith, S., Kyser, K. and DeSombre,
 E.R. Estrogen receptors and breast cancer response to adrenalectomy. *Natl. Cancer Inst. Monogr.* 34: 55-70 (1971).
- Engelsman, E., Persijn, J.P., Korsten, C.B. and Cleton, F.J.
 Oestrogen receptor in human breast cancer tissue and response to endocrine therapy. *Br.Med.J.* 2: 750-752 (1973).
- McGuire, W.L. Steroid receptors in human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 38: 4289-4291 (1978).
- McGuire, W.L., Horwitz, K.B. and De La Garza, M. A biochemical basis for selecting endocrine therapy in human breast cancer. In: *Breast cancer trends in research and treatment*. Edited by Heuson, J.C., Mattheiem, W.H. and Rosencwieg, M. Volume 2, pp. 177-184. Raven press, New York (1976).
- McGuire, W.L., Cabone, P.P. and Vollmer, E.P. Estrogen receptors in human breast cancer. Raven Press, New York (1975).
- 29. Jensen, E.V., Desombre, E.R. and Jungblut, P.W. Estrogen receptors in hormone responsive tissues and tumors. In:

Endogenous factors influencing host-tumor. Edited by Wissler, R.W., Dao, T.L. and Wood, S., pp.15-30. University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1967).

- Jensen, E.V., Suzuki, T., Numata, M., Smith, S. and DeSombre,
 E.R. Estrogen-binding substances of target tissues. *Steroids.* 13: 417-427 (1969).
- Gorski, J., Toft, D., Shyamala, G., Smith, D. and Notides, A.
 Hormone receptors: Studies on the interaction of estrogen with the uterus. *Recent Prog.Horm. Res.* 24: 45-80 (1968).
- 32. Wittlif, J.L., Beatty, B.W., Savlov, E.D., Patterson, W.B. and Cooper, R.A. Estrogen receptors and hormone dependency in human breast cancer. In: *Recent results in cancer research*. Edited by St-Arnealt, G., Band, P. and Israel, L. Vol57: pp. 59-77. Springer-Verlag, New York (1976).
- King, R.J.B. Overview of molecular aspects of steroid hormone actions. In: *Hormones and their actions. Part 1. New Comprehensive biochemistry.* Vol A: 29-38. Elsevier, Amsterdam (1988).
- 34. King, R.J.B. Oestrogen receptors: an overview of recent advances

in their structure and function. *Proc.Roy.Soc. (Edin).* **95B**: 133-144 (1989).

- Parker, M.G. Gene regulation by steroid hormones. In: Hormones and their actions. Part 1. New comprehensive Biochemistry, Vol 18A: 39-48. Elsevier, Amsterdam (1988).
- Evans, R.M. The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily.
 Science. 240: 889-895 (1988).
- Beato, M. Gene regulation by steroid hormones. *Cell.* 56: 335-344 (1989).
- Green, G.L., Sobel, N.B., King, W.J. and Jensen, E.V. Immunochemical studies of estrogen receptors. *J. Steroid Biochem.* 20: 51-56 (1984).
- Yamamoto, K.R. Steroid receptor transcription of specific genes and gene networks. *Ann.Rev.Genet.* 19: 209-252 (1985).
- Green, s., Walter, P., Kumar, V., Bornet, J.H., Argos, P. and Chambon P. Human oestrogen receptor cDNA: sequence, expression and homology to v-erb A. *Nature (Lond)*. 320: 134-139 (1986).

- Greene, G.L., Gilna, P., Waterfield, M., Baker, A., Hort, Y.and Shine, J. Sequence and expression of human estrogen receptor complementary DNA. *Science.* 231: 1150-1154 (1986).
- 42. Coneely, O.M., Sullivan, W.P., Toft, D.O., Birnbaumer, M. Cook,
 R.G., Maxwell, B.L., Zaruki-Schultz, T., Greene, G.L., Schrader,
 W.T. and O Malley, B.W. Molecular cloning of the chicken progesterone receptor. *Science.* 233: 767-770 (1986).
- 43. Jeltsch, J.M., Krozowowski, Z., Quirin-Stricker, C., Gronemeyer, H., Simpson, R.J., Garnier, J.M., Krust, A., Jacob, F. and Chambon, P. Cloning of the chicken progesterone receptor. *Proc.Nat.Acad.Sci.(Wash).* 83: 5424-5428 (1986).
- Loosefelt, H., Agter, M., Mishrahi, M., Guiochon-Mantal, A. and Meriel, P. Cloning and sequence analysis of rabbit progesterone receptor complementary DNA. *Proc.Nat.Acad.Sci.(Wash).* 83: 9045-9049 (1986).
- 45. Krust, A., Green, S., Argos, P., Kumar, V., Walter, P., Bornet, J-M. and Chambon, P. The chicken oestrogen receptor sequence: homology with v-erbA and the human oestrogen and glucocorticoid receptors. *EMBO J.* 5: 891-897 (1986).

- Kumar, V., Green, S., Staub, A. and Chambon, P. Localisation of the oestradiol-binding and putative DNA-binding domains of the human oestrogen receptor. *EMBO J.* 5: 2231-2236 (1986).
- 47. Kumar, v., Green, S., Stack, G., Berry, M., Jin, J.R. and Chambon,
 P. Functional domains of the human estrogen receptor. *Cell.* 51: 941-951 (1987).
- Clark, J.H., Peck,E.J. and Markaverich,B.M. Steroid hormone receptors: Basic principles and measurement. In: *Laboratory methods manual for hormone action and molecular endocrinology*. Edited by Schrader,W.T. and O'Malley, B.W., 9th Edition, pp.1-54. Endocrine Society, Bethshesda (1985).
- Toft, D. and Gorski, J. A receptor molecule for estrogens: isolation from the rat uterus and preliminary characterization. *Proc.Natl. Acad.Sci.USA.* 55: 1574-1581 (1966).
- Jensen, E.V. and DeSombre, E.R. Estrogen-receptor interaction.
 Estrogenic hormone affect transformation of specific receptor proteins to a biochemically functional form. *Science.* 182: 126-134 (1973).
- 51. McGuire, W.L., Carbonne, P.P. and Vollmer, E.P. eds. Estrogen

receptors in human breast cancer. Raven Press. New York. (1975).

- Kirkpatrik, A.F., Kaiser, N., Milholland, R.J. and Rosen, F. Glucocorticoid-binding macromolecules in normal tissues and tumors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 247: 70-74 (1971).
- Baynard, J.P., Bouton, M.M., Moguilewsky, M., Ojasso, T., Philibert, D., Beck, G., Labrie, F. and Mornon, J.P. Steroid hormone receptors and pharmacology. *J.Steroid Biochem.* 12: 143-149 (1980).
- Erdos, T., Best-Pelpomme, M. and Bessaeda, R. A rapid assay for binding estradiol to uterine receptor(s). *Anal.Biochem.* 37: 244-252 (1970).
- Scatchard, G. The attraction of proteins for small molecules and ions. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. 51: 660-672 (1949).
- O'Malley, B.W., Schrader, W.T. and Pelsberg, T.C. In: *Receptors for reproductive hormones*. Edited by O'Malley, B.W. and Means, A.R. pp. 174-196. Plenum Publishing Corp, New York (1973).
- 57. Schrader, W.T., Buller, R.E., Kuhn, R. and O'Malley, B. Molecular mechanisms of steroid hormone action. *J. Steroid Biochem.* 5: 989-

- Schrader, W.T., Socher, S.H. and Buller, E. Steroid hormonereceptor interactions with nuclear constituents. *Methods in Enzymol.* 36: 292-313 (1975).
- Sherman, M.R., Corvol, P.L. and O'Malley, B.W. Progesteronebinding components of chick oviduct. *J.Biol.Chem.* 245: 6085-6091 (1970).
- Puca, G.A., Nola, E., Sica, V. and Bresciani, F. Estrogenbinding proteins of calf uterus. Partial purification and preliminary characterization of two cytoplasmic proteins. *Biochemistry* 10: 3769-3780 (1971).
- Sica, V., Parkh, J., Nola, E., Puca, G. and Cuatrecasas, P. Affinity chromatography and purification of estrogen receptors. *J.Biol. Chem.* 248: 6543-6548 (1973).
- Kuhn, R.W., Schrader, T., Smith, R. and O'Malley, B.W.
 Progesterone binding components of chick oviduct. *J.Biol.Chem.* 250: 4220-4228 (1975).
- 63. Nishigori, H. and Toft, D.O. Inhibition of progesterone receptor

activation by sodium molybdate. Biochemistry 19: 77-83 (1980).

- 64. Van der Walt, L.A. and Wittliff, J.L. High resolution separation of molybdate-stabilized progestin receptor using High Performance Liquid Chromatography. *J.Chromatography-Biomed.Appl.* 425: 277-282 (1988).
- 65. Shymala, G. Inhibition of uterine estrogen receptor transformation of sodium molybdate. *J. Biol. Chem.* **255**: 6028-6031 (1980).
- Miller, L.K., Tuazon, F.B., Niu, E.N.M. and Sherman, M.
 R. Human breast tumor estrogen receptor. Effects of molybdate and electrophoretic analysis. *Endocrinology* **108**: 1369-1378 (1981).
- 67. Dure, L.S. Covalent attachment of a progestational steroid to chick oviduct progesterone receptor by photoaffinity. *Nature* 233: 784-786 (1980).
- Lessey, B.A., Alexander, S. and Horwitz, K.B. The subunit structure of human breast cancer progesterone receptors: characterization by chromatography and photoaffinity labelling. *Endocrinology* 112: 1267-1274 (1983).

- Wrange, G. and Gustafsson, J-A. Separation of the hormone and DNA binding sites of the hepatic glucocorticoid receptor by means of proteolysis. *J.Biol.Chem.* 253: 856-861 (1978).
- Wiegel, N.L., Pousette, A., Schrader, W.T. and O'Malley, B.W. Analysis of chicken progesterone structure using a spontaneous sheep antibody. *Biochem. J.* 20: 6798-6803 (1981).
- Greene, G.L., Nolan, C., Engler, J.P. and Jensen, E.V. Monoclonal antibodies to human estrogen receptors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.* (U.S.A.) 77: 5115-5119 (1980).
- 72. Logeat, F., Pamphile, R., Loosfelt, H., Jolivet, A., Fournier, A. and Milgrom, E. One step immunoaffinity purification of active progesterone receptor. Further evidence in favour of the existence of a single steroid binding subunit. *Biochemistry* 24; 1029-1035 (1985).
- 73. Wittliff, J.L. and Wiehle, R.D. Analytical methods for steroid hormone receptors and their quality assurance. In: *Hormonally responsive tumors.* Edited by Hollander, V.P. pp.383-428. Academic Press, New York (1985).
- 74. King, W.J. and Greene, G.L. Monoclonal antibodies localize

oestrogen receptor in the nuclei of target cells. *Nature* **307**: 745-747 (1984).

- Greene, G.L., Closs, L.E., DeSombre, E.R. and Jensen, E.V. Antibodies to estrophilin: Comparison between rabbit and goat antisera. *J. Steroid Biochem.* 11: 333-341 (1979).
- 76. Cano, A., Coffer, A.I., Adatia, R., Milles, R.R., Rubins, R.D. and King, R.J. Histochemical studies with an estrogen-receptor related protein in human breast tumours. *Cancer Res.* 46: 6475-6480 (1986).
- 77. Jensen, E.V., Greene, G.L. and DeSombre, E.R. The estrogenreceptor immunoassay in the progress and treatment of breast cancer. *Lab.Management* 1-10 (1986).
- Van der Walt, L.A. and Wittliff, J.L. High resolution separation of molybdate stabilized progestin receptors using high performance liquid chromatography. *J.Chromatography-Biomed.Appl.* 425: 277-280 (1988).
- Raubenheimer, J. and Van der Walt, L.A. Multidimensional chromatographic separation of estrogen receptors *Biomed.Chromatogr.* 6: 255-261 (1988).

- Boyle, D.M., Wiehle, R.D., Shahabi, N.A. and Wittliff. J.L. A rapid high resolution procedure for assessment of estrogen receptor heterogeneity in clinical samples. *J.Chromatogr.* 327: 369-373 (1985).
- Levy, A. and Van der Walt, L.A. Characterization of human progesterone receptor by high performance chromatography.
 Biomed.Chromatogr. 5: 62-67 (1991).
- Wittliff, J.L. Steroid hormone receptors.In: *Methods in clinical chemistry*. Edited by Pesce, A.J. and Kaplan, L.A. pp. 676-795
 C.V. Mosby Company, St Louis (1987).
- B3. Going, J.J., Anderson, T.J., Battersby, S. and MacIntyre C.C.A.
 Proliferative and secretory activity in human breast during natural and artificial menstrual cycles. *Am.J.Pathol.* 130: 193-199 (1988).
- Anderson, T.J., Battersby, S., King, R.J.B., McPherson, K. and Going, J.J. Oral contraceptive use influences resting breast proliferation. *Hum.Pathol.* 20: 1139-1146 (1989).
- Anderson, T.J., Howell, A. and King, R.J.B. Comment on progesterone effects in breast tissue. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 10: 65-72 (1987).

- Berliner, J.A. and Gerschenson L.E. Sex steroid induced morphological changes in primary uterine cell cultures. *J. Steroid Biochem.* 7: 153-158 (1976).
- Henderson, B.E., Ross, R. and Bernstein, L. Estrogens as a cause of human cancer. The Richard and Hinda Rosenthal Foundation Award Lecture. *Cancer Res.* 48: 246-255 (1988).
- Haslam, S.Z. Progesterone effects on deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in normal mouse mammary glands. *Endocrinology* 122: 464-470 (1988).
- Imagawa, W., Tomooka, Y., Hamamoto, S. and Nandi, S.
 Stimulation of mammary epithelial cell growth *in vitro:* interaction of epidermal growth factor and mammogenic hormones. *Endocrinology* **116**: 1514-1520 (1985).
- 90. McCarty Jr, K.S. Proliferative stimuli in the normal breast: estrogens or progestins? *Human Pathol.* **20**:1137-1143 (1989).
- Alexander, I.E., Shine, J. and Sutherland, R.L. Progestin regulation of estrogen receptor messenger RNA in human breast cancer cells. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 4: 821-826 (1990).

- 92. Papa, V., Reese, C.C., Brunetti, A., Vigneri, R., Siteri, P.K. and Goldfine, I.D. Progestins increase insulin receptor content and insulin stimulation of growth in human breast carcinoma cell. *Cancer Res.* 50: 7858-7864 (1990).
- Murphy, L.C., Murphy, L.J. and Shiu, R.P.C. Progestin regulation of EGF-receptor mRNA accumulation in T-47D human breast cancer cells. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 150: 192-198 (1988).
- 94. Murphy, L.C. and Dotzlaw, H. Endogenous growth factor expression in T-47D human breast cancer cells associated with reduced sensitivity to antiproliferative effects of progestins and antiestrogens. *Cancer Res.* 49: 599-608 (1989).
- Murphy, L.C., Murphy, L.J., Dubik, D., Bell, G.I. and Shiu, R.P.C.
 Epidermal growth factor gene expression in human breast cancer
 cell: regulation of expression by progestins. *Cancer Res.* 48: 4555-4562 (1988).
- Carson-Jurica, M.A., Schrader, W.T. and O'Malley, B.W. Steroid receptor family: structure and functions. *Endocr. Rev.* 11: 201-220 (1990).

- Mishrahi, M., Agter, M., d'Auriol, L., Loosfelt, H., Meriel, C., Fridlansky, F., Guichon-Mantel, A., Galibet, F. and Milgrom, E. Complete amino acid sequence of the human progesterone receptor deduced from the cloned cDNA. *Biochem.Biophys. Res.Commun.* 143: 740-750 (1987).
- 98. Baulieu, E.E. The steroid hormone agonist RU 486. Mechanism at the cellular level and clinical applications. *Endocrinology and Metabolism clinics of North America.* 20: No4: 873-891 (1991).
- Gasc, J.M., Ennis, B.W., Baulieu, E.E. and Stumpf, W.E. Combined technique of immunohistochemistry and autoradiography for the simultaneous detection of steroid hormone receptors and their ligands. *J.of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry* 3: 1505-1508 (1986).
- Green, S. and Chambon, P. A superfamily of potentially oncogenic hormone receptors. *Nature* 324: 615-623 (1986).
- 101. Meyer, M.E., Pornon, A., Ji, J.,Bocquel, M.T., Chambon, P. and Gronemeyer, H. Agonistic and antagonistic activities of RU486 on the functions of the human progesterone receptor. *EMBO J.* 9: 3923-3930 (1990).

- 102. Schrader, W.T. and O'Malley, B.W. Progesterone binding components of chick oviduct. Characterization of purified subunits. *J.Biol.Chem.* 247: 51-63 (1972).
- 103. Horwitz, K.B. and Alexander, P.S. *In situ* photolinked nuclear progesterone receptors of human breast cancer cells: subunit molecular weights after transformation and translocation. *Endocrinology* 112: 1267-1274 (1983).
- 104. Lessey, B.A., Alexander, P.S. and Horwitz, K.B. The subunit structure of human breast cancer progesterone receptors: characterization by chromatography and photoaffinity labeling. *Endocrinology* **112**: 1267-1272 (1983).
- 105. Krett, N.L., Wei, L.L., Francis, M.D., Nordeen, S.K., Gordon, D.F., Wood, W.M. and Horwitz, K.B. Human progesterone A-receptors can be synthesized intracellularly and are biologically functional. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 157: 278-286 (1988).
- 106. Horwitz, K.B., Francis, M.D. and Wei, L.L. Hormone-dependent covalent modification and processing of human progesterone receptors in the nucleus. *DNA* **4**: 451-460 (1985).
- 107. Birnbaumer, M.E., Schrader, W.L. and O'Malley B.W. Chemical

cross-linking of chick oviduct progesterone receptor subunits by using a reversable bifunctional cross-linking agent. *Biochem.J.* **181**: 201-206 (1979).

- Dougherty, J.J. and Toft, D.O. Characterization of two 8S forms of chick oviduct progesterone receptor. *J.Biol.Chem.* 257: 3113-3119 (1982).
- 109. Puri, R.K., Grandics, P., Dougherty, J.J. and Toft, D.O. Purification of "nontransformed" avian progesterone receptor and preliminary characterization. J.Biol.Chem. 257: 10831-10839 (1982).
- 110. Wei, L.L., Sheridan, P.L., Krett, N.L., Francis, M.D., Toft, D.O., Edwards, D.P. and Horwitz, K.B. Immunologic analysis of human breast cancer progesterone receptors. Structure, phosphorylation and processing. *Biochemistry.* 26: 6262-6271 (1987).
- Shuh, S., Yonemoto, W., Brugge, J., Bauer, V.J., Riehl, R.M., Sullivan, W.P. and Toft, D.O. A 90,000-dalton binding protein common to both steroid receptors and the Rous Sarcoma virus transforming protein. pp60^{v-arc} J.Biol.Chem. 260: 14292-14297 (1985).
- 112. Catelli, M.G., Binart, N., Jung-Testas, I., Renoir, J.M., Baulieu,

E.E., Feramisco, J.R. and Welch, W.J. The common 90-kd protein component of non-transformed '8S' steroid receptors is a heat shock protein. *EMBO J.* **4**: 3131-3141 (1985).

- Pratt,W.B. Interaction of hsp90 with steroid receptors: organizing some diverse observations and presenting the newest concepts. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 74: 69-79 (1990).
- 114. Logeat. F., LeCunff,M., Pamphile, R. and Milgrom, M. The nuclear bound form of the progesterone receptor is generated through a hormone-dependent phosphorylation. *Biochem.Biophys.Res. Res.Commun.* 131: 421-429 (1985).
- Dougherty, J.J., Puri, R.K. and Toft, D.O. Phosphorylation *in vivo* of chicken oviduct progesterone receptor. *J.Biol.Chem.* 257: 14226-14232 (1982).
- Moudgil, V.K. Phosphorylation of steroid hormone receptors.
 Biochimica.Biohpys.Acta. 1055: 243-258 (1990).
- 117. Smith, D.F., Faber, L.E. and Toft, D.O. Purification of unactivated progesterone receptor and identification of novel receptor-associated proteins. *J.Biol.Chem.* **265**: 3996-3402 (1990).

- 118. DeMarzo, A.M., Beck, C.A., Onate, S.A. and Edwards, D.P. Dimerization of mammalian progesterone receptors occurs in the absence of DNA and is related to the release of the 90-kDa heat shock protein. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA.* 88: 72-80 (1991).
- 119. Tora, L., Gronemeyer, H., Turcotte, B., Gaub, M-P. and Chambon,
 P. The N-terminal region of the chicken progesterone receptor specifies target gene activation. *Nature* 333: 185-192 (1988).
- 120. Wittliff, J.L. Steroid hormone receptors in breast cancer. *Cancer*53: 630-643 (1984).
- 121. Clark, G.M., McGuire, W.L., Hubay, C.A., Pearson, O.H. and Marshall, J.S. Progesterone receptors as a prognostic factor in stage 11 breast cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med.* **309**: 1343-1347 (1987).
- 122. Vihko, R., Alanko, A., Isomaa, V. and Kauppila, A. The predictive value of steroid hormone receptor analysis in breast, endometrial and ovarian cancer. *Med.Oncol.Tumor Pharmacother.* 3: 197-210 (1986).
- Mayer, T.K. and Mooney, R.A. Laboratory analysis for steroid receptors. Their applications to clinical medicine. Critical review. *Clin.Chim.Acta.* 172: 1-34 (1988).

- 124. McGuire, W.L. Prognostic factors for recurrence and survival in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 10: 5-9 (1987).
- 125. Horwitz, K.B., Wei, L.L., Sedlack, S.M. and D'arville, C.M. Progestin action and progesterone receptor structure in human breast cancer. A Review. *Recent Progress in Hormone Res.* 41: 249-317 (1985).
- Merecki, D.M. and Jordan, C.V. Steroid hormone receptors and human breast cancer. *Lab.Med.* Vol.16: no5: 287-294 (1985).
- 127. Oster M. Endocrine therapy and chemotherapy for breast carcinoma. In: *Diseases of the breast.* ed. Hagenson C.D. chapter 65. pp.991-1011. Saunders Company Philladelphia. (1986).
- 128. Wittliff, J.L., Mehta, R.G., Lewko, W.M., Park, D.C. and Boyd-Leiren, P.A. Steroid-receptor interaction in normal and neoplastic mammary tissues. In: *Biomedical markers for cancer.* pp.183-227 ed. Ming Chu. Marcel Dekker Inc.New York. (1982).
- 129. Wittliff, J.L., Fisher, B. and Durant, J.R. Establishment of uniformity in steroid receptor analysis used in co-operative clinical trials of breast cancer treatment. In: *Recent results in cancer*

research. Eds. Henningsen, B., Linder, F. and Steichele, C. Volume 71: pp 198-206. Springer-Verlag. New York (1980).

- DeSombre, E.R., Carbone, P.P., Jensen, E.V., McGuire, W.L., Wells, S.A., Wittliff, J.L. and Lipsett, M.B. Special Report: Steroid Receptors in Breast Cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 301: 1011-1012 (1979).
- Lippman, M.E. and Allegra, J.C. Current concepts in cancer: Receptors in Breast Cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 299: 930-933 (1978).
- Ponglkitmongkol, M., Green, S. and Chambon, P. Genomic organization of the human oestrogen receptor gene. *EMBO J.* 7: 3385-3388 (1988).
- Kumar, V. and Chambon, P. The estrogen receptor binds tightly to its responsive element as a ligand-induced homodimer. *Cell* 55: 145-156 (1988).
- 134. Guichon-Mantel, A., Loosefelt, H. and Ragot, T. Receptors bound to anti-progestins form abortive complexes with hormone responsive elements. *Nature* 336: 695-698 (1988).
- 135. Baulieu, E.E. Steroid hormone antagonists at the receptor level: a

role for the heat-shock protein MW 90,000 (hsp90). *J.of Cell. Biochem.* **35**: 161-174. (1987).

- 136. Fawell, S.E., Lees, J.A., White, R. and Parker, M.G. Characterization and colocalization of steroid binding and dimerization activities in the mouse estrogen receptor. *Cell* 60: 953-962 (1990).
- 137. Adler, S., Waterman, M.L., He, X. and Rosenfeld, M.G. Steroid receptor mediated inhibition of rat prolactin gene expression does not reguire the receptor DNA-binding domain. *Cell* 52: 685-695 (1988).
- Washburn, T., Hocutt, A., Brautigan, D.L. and Korach, K.A. Uterine estrogen receptor *in vivo*: phosphorolation of nuclearspecific forms on serine residues. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 5: 235-242 (1991).
- 139. Keaveney, M., Klug, M.T. and Dawson, M.T. Evidence for a previously unidentified upstream exon in the human oestrogen receptor gene. J.of Mol.Endocrinol. 6: 111-115 (1991).
- 140. Shupnik, M.A., Gordon, M.S. and Chin, W.M. Tissue specific regulation of rat estrogen receptor mRNA. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **3**: 660-
- 141. Garcia, T., Lehner, S., Bloomer, W. and Schachter, B. A variant estrogen receptor messenger ribonucleic acid is associated with reduced levels of estrogen binding in human mammary tumors. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 2: 785-791 (1988).
- 142. Garcia, T., Sanchez, M. and Cox, J.L. Identification of a variant form of the human estrogen receptor with amino acid replacement. *Nuclei Acids.Res.* 17: 8364-8370 (1989).
- 143. Murphy, L.C. and Dotzlaw, H. Variant estrogen receptor mRNA species detected in human breast cancer biopsy samples. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 3: 786-693. (1989).
- 144. Fuqua, S.A.W., Fitzgerald, S.D. and Chamness, G.C. Binding analysis of the estrogen receptor to its specific DNA target site in human breast cancer *Cancer Res.* **51**: 3405-3410 (1991).
- 145. Hirose, T., Koga, M., Matsumoto, K. and Sato, B. A single nucleotide substitution in the D domain of estrogen receptor cDNA causes amino acid alteration from GLU-279 to LYO-279 in a murine transformed Leydig cell line (B-IF). J.of Steroid Biochem. and Mol.Biol. 39: 1-4 (1991).

- 146. Foster, B.D., Couvener, D.R. and Parl, F.F. Binding analysis of the estrogen receptor to its specific DNA target site in human breast cancer *Cancer Res.* 51: 3405-3410 (1991).
- 147. Scott, G.K., Kushner, P., Vigne, J-L. and Benz, C.C. Truncated forms of DNA-binding estrogen receptors in breast cancer. J. of Clin.Invest. 88: 700-706 (1991).
- 148. Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M-Y. and O'Malley, B.W. The steroid receptor superfamily: Transactivators of gene expression In: *Nuclear hormone receptors.* Ed. Parker, M.G. pp 103-224. Academic Press. London. (1991).
- Powles, T. Present role of hormonal therapy. In: Breast cancer: Diagnosis and management. Ed. Bonadonna, G. pp 229-246. J.
 Wiley, Chichester. (1984).
- 150. Manni, A., Arafah, B. and Pearson, O.H. Changes in endocrine status following anti-estrogen administration to premenopausal and postmenopausal women. In: *Non-steroidal anti-estrogens.* pp.435-452. eds. Sutherland, R.L. and Jordan, V.C. Academic Press, New York. (1981).
- 151. Skidmore, J.R., Walpole, A.L. and Woodburn, J. Effect of some

triphylethylenes on oestradiol binding *in vitro* to macromolecules from uterus and anterior pituitary. *J.Endocrinol.* **52**: 289-298 (1972).

- 152. Jordan, V.C. and Prestwich G. Binding of [³H] tamoxifen in rat uterine cytosols. A comparison of swinging bucket and vertical tube sucrose density gradient analysis. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 8: 179-188 (1977).
- Jordan, V.C. Prolonged antiestrogenic activity of ICI 46,474 in the ovarectomized mouse. J. Reprod. Fertil. 52: 251-258 (1975).
- 154. Jordan, V.C. and Dowse, L.J. Tamoxifen as an antitumor agent: Effect on oestrogen binding. *J.Endocrinol.* **68**: 297-303 (1976).
- Jordan, V.C., Dix, C.J. Rowsby, L. and Prestwich, G. Studies on the mechanism of action of the non-steroidal, anti-oestrogen (ICI 46,474) in the rat. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* 7: 177-192 (1977).
- 156. Jordan, V.C., Rowsby, L., Dix, C.J. and Prestwich G. Dose related effect of non-steroidal antiestrogens and non-steroidal oestrogens on the measurement of cytoplasmic receptors in the rat and mouse uterus. *J.Endocrinol.* 78: 71-81 (1978).

- 157. Jordan, V.C. and Naylor, K.K. Binding of [³H] oestradiol in the immature rat uterus during the sequential administration of antiestrogens. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 65: 165-173 (1979).
- Sutherland, R.L., Murphy, L.C., Foo, M.S., Green, M.D., Wybourne, A.M. and Krozowsski, Z.S. High affinity antiestrogen binding site distinct from the oestrogen receptor. *Nature (Lond).* 288: 273-275 (1980).
- 159. Sutherland, R.L., Green, M.D., Hall, R.E., Reddel, R.R. and Taylor,
 I.W. Tamoxifen induces accumulation of MCF-7 human mammary
 carcinoma cells in the G₀/G₁ Phase of the cell cycle. *Eur.J.Clin.Oncol.* 19: 615-621 (1983).
- 160. Osborn, C.K., Boldt, D.H., Clark, G.M. and Trent, J.M. Effect of tamoxifen on human breast cancer cell cycle kinetics: accumulation of cells in early G₁ phase. *Cancer Res.* 43: 3583-3586 (1983).
- 161. Bates, S.E., Davidson, N.E., Vilverius, E.M., Treter, C.E., Dickson, R.B., Tann, J.P., Pudlow, J.E., Lippman, M.E. and Salomon, D.S. Expression of transforming growth factor *a* and its messenger ribonucleic acid in human breast cancer, its regulation by estrogen and its possible functional significance. *Mol.Endocrinol.* 2: 543-

- 162. Knabbe, E., Lippman, M.E., Wakefield, L.M., Flanders, K.C., Kasid, A., Deryrick, R. and Dickson, R.B. Evidence that transformong growth factor *b* is a hormonally regulated negative growth factor in human breast cancer cells. *Cells* 48: 417-428 (1987).
- 163. Jordan, V.C. Long term adjuvant therapy with tamoxifen: effects on sex hormone-binding globulin and antithrombin 111. *Cancer Res.* 47: 4517-4519 (1987).
- 164. Berry, J., Green, B.J. and Matheson, D.S. Modulation of natural killer cell activity by tamoxifen in stage 1 postmenopausal breast cancer. *Eur.J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* 23: 517-520 (1987).
- 165. Jordan, V.C., Dix, C.J. and Allen, K.E. The effectiveness of longterm treatment in a laboratory model for adjuvant hormone therapy of breast cancer In: *Adjuvant therapy for cancer 11* pp.19-26. eds. Salmon, S.E. and Jones, S.E. Grune and Stratton, New York. (1979).
- 166. Jordan, V.C. and Allen, K.E. Evaluation of the anti-tumor activity of the non steroidal antiestrogen monohydroxytamoxifen in DMBAinduced rat mammary carcinoma model. *Eur.J. Cancer* **16**: 239-251

- 167. Gottardis, M.M., Robinson, S.P. and Jordan, V.C. Estradiolstimulatee growth of MCF-7 tumors implanted in athymic mice: a model to study the tumoristatic action of tamoxifen. *J.Steroid Biochem.* **30**: 311-314 (1988).
- 168. Gottardis, M.M. and Jordan, V.C. Development of tamoxifenstimulated growth of MCF-7 tumors in athymic mice after long term antiestrogen administration. *Cancer Res.* 48: 5183-5187 (1988).
- 169. Falkson, H.C., Gray, R. and Wolberg, W.M. Adjuvant therapy of postmenopausal women with breast cancer - an ECOG phase 111 study. Abstact 67. *Proc.Asso.San Fransisco.* May, (1989).
- 170. Fisher, B., Redmond, C., Brown, A., Fisher, E.R., Wolmark, N., Bowman, D., Plotkin, D., Wolter, J., Bornstein, R., Lequalt-Poisson, S., Saffer, E.A. and NSABP investigations. Adjuvant chemotherapy with and without in the treatment of primary breast cancer: 5 year results from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project Trial. J.Clin.Oncol. 4: 459-471 (1986).
- 171. Fisher, B., Brown, A., Wolmark, N., Redmond, C., Wickerham, L.,

Wittliff, J., Dimitrov, N., Legault-Poisson, S., Schipper, H., Prager,
D. and other NSABP investigations. Prolonged tamoxifen therapy
for primary breast cancer. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 106: 649-654 (1987).

- 172. Delozier, T., Julien, J-P., Juret, P., Veynet, C., Couette, J-E., Grai, Y., Oliver, J-M. and de Rainier, E. Adjuvant tamoxifen in postmenopausal breast cancer: preliminary results of a randomized trial. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 7: 105-110 (1986).
- Breast Cancer Trials Committee, Scottish Cancer Trials Office (MRC). Adjuvant tamoxifen in the management of operable breast cancer: The Scottish Trial. *Lancet* 2: 171-175. (1987).
- 174. Fisher, B., Constantino, J., Redmond, C. and other members of the NSABP. A randomized clinical trial evaluating tamoxifen in the treatment of patients with node-negative breast cancer who have estrogen receptor-positive tumors. *N.Engl.J.Med.* **320**: 479-484 (1989).
- Franson, J.M., Pearson, S. and Bramah, S. The metabolism of tamoxifen (ICI 46,474). Part 11 in female patients. *Xenobiotica* 3: 711-713 (1973).
- 176. Fabian, C., Sternson, L. and Barrett, M. Clinical pharmacology of

tamoxifen in patients with breast cancer comparison of traditional and loading dose schedules. *Cancer Treat.Rep.* **64**: 765-773 (1980).

- 177. Adam, H.K., Gay, M.A. and Mooore, R.H. Measurement of tamoxifen in serum by thin layer densitometry. *J. Endocrinol.* 84: 35-42. (1982).
- 178. Daniel, C.P., Gaskell, S.J., Bishop, H. and Nicholson, R.I. Determination of tamoxifen and a hydroxylated metabolite in plasma from patients with advanced breast cancer using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *J.Endocrinol.* 83: 401-408 (1979).
- 179. Bratherton, D.J., Brown, C.A., Buchanan, R., Hall, V., Kingsley-Pillers, E.M., Wheeler, T.K. and Williams, C.J. A comparison of two doses of tamoxifen (Nolvadex) in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer 10mg bd versus 20mg bd. Br.J. Cancer 50: 199-205 (1985).
- 180. Patterson, J.S., Settatree, R.S., Adam, H.K. and Kemp, J.V. Serum concentration of tamoxifen and major metabolites during long-term Nolvadex therapy. Correlated with clinical response. In: *Breast cancer-experimental and clinical aspects.* pp.89-92 eds.

Mouridsen, H.T. and Palshoff, H. Oxford. United Kingdom. Pergamon Press. (1980).

- Furr, B.J.A. and Jordan, V.C. The pharmacology and clinical uses of tamoxifen. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 25: 127-205 (1984).
- 182. Robinson, S.P. and Jordan, V.C. The metabolism of steroid modifying anticancer agents. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 36: 41-103 (1988).
- 183. Jordan V.C., Bain, R.R., Brown, R.R., Gosden, B. and Santos, M.A. Determination and pharmacology of a new hydroxylated metabolite of tamoxifen observed in patient sera during therapy for advanced breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 43: 1446-1450 (1983).
- 184. Kemp, J.V., Adam, H.K., Wakeling, A.E. and Slater, R. Identification and biological activity of tamoxifen metabolites in human serum. *Biochem.Pharmacol.* 32: 2045-2052 (1983).
- 185. Binart, N., Catelli, M.H., Geyret Puri, V., Hahnel, R., Mester, J. and Baulieu, E.E. Monohydroxy-tamoxifen: an antiestrogen with high affinity for the chick oviduct oestrogen receptor. *Biochem.Biophys. Res.Commun.* **91**: 812-818 (1979).
- 186. Borgna, J.L. and Rochefort, H. High affinity binding to the

estrogen receptor of [³H] 4-hydroxytamoxifen an active antiestrogen metabolite. *Mol.Cell.Endocrinol.* **20**: 71-85 (1980).

- 187. Jordan, V.C., Collins, M.W., Rowsby, L. and Prestwich, G. A monohydroxylated metabolite of tamoxifen with potent antioestrogenic activity. *J.Endocrinol.* **75**: 305-316 (1977).
- 188. Jordan, V.C., Dix, C.J., Naylor, K.E., Prestwich, G.A. and Rowsby, L. Non steroidal antiestrogens: their biological effects and potential mechanisms of action. *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health.* 4: 364-390 (1978).
- 189. Lein, E.A., Solheim, E., Kvinnsland. and Veland, P.M. Identification of 4-hydroxy-N-desmethyl-tamoxifen as a metabolite of tamoxifen in human bile. *Cancer Res.* 48: 2304-2308 (1988).
- 190. Robinson, S.P., Langan-Fahey, S.M. and Jordan, V.C. Implications of tamoxifen metabolism in the athymic mice for the study of antitumor effects upon human breast cancer xenografts. *Eur.J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* 25: 1769-1776 (1989).
- 191. Jordan, V.C., Phelps, E. and Lingren, J.U. Effects of antiestrogens on bone in castrated and intact female rats. *Breast Cancer Res.treat.* 10: 31-35 (1987).

- 192. Jordan, V.C. Use of the DMBA-induced rat mammary carcinoma system for the evaluation of tamoxifen treatment as a potential adjuvant therapy. *Rev. Endocrinol. Rel. Cancer* October suppl. 49-55 (1978).
- 193. Turner, R.T., Wakeling, G.K., Hanson, K.S. and Bell, N.H. Tamoxifen prevents the skeletal effects of ovarian deficiency in rats. J.Bone Miner.Res. 2: 449-456 (1987).
- 194. Coombes, R.C., Dearnley, D., Humphreys, J., Gaset, J.C., Ford, H.T., Nash, A.G., Mashiter, K. and Powles, T.J. Danazol treatment of advanced breast cancer. *Cancer Treat.Rep.* 64: 1073-1075 (1981).
- 195. Pannuti, F., Martoni, A., Lency, G.R., Poana, E. and Manni, P. A possible new approach to the treatment of metastatic breast cancer: Massive doses of medroxprogesterone acetate. *Cancer Treat.Rep.* 62: 499-504 (1978).
- Caretta, R., Floerentine, S., Hunter, H. and Lenaz, L. Megestrol acetate. *Cancer Treat.Rev.* 10: 141-157 (1983).
- 197. Johnson, P., Bonomi, P. and Walter, J. Megestrol acetate as secondary hormonal therapy in advanced breast cancer. *Proc.*

Amm.Soc.Clin.Oncol. 3: 479-480 (1984).

- Davies, P. and Nicholson, R.I. How do androgens and progestins cause regression of breast cancer? *Rev.Endocr.Related Cancer* 10: 19-25 (1981).
- Geiner, N.F. and Donegan, W.L. Role and mechanisms of corticosteroid therapy in breast cancer disease. *Breast* 6: 5-11 (1980).
- 200. Santen, R.J., Lipton, A. and Kendall, J. Successful medical adrenalectomy with amino-glutethimide. Role of altered drug metabolism. *J.Am.Med.Assoc.* **230**: 1661-1665 (1974).
- 201. Cash, R., Brough, A.J., Cohen, M.N.P. and Satch, P.S. Aminoglutethimide (Elipten-Ciba) as an inhibitor of adrenal steroidgenesis. Mechanism of action and therapeutic trial. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab.* 27: 1239-1248 (1967).
- 202. Santen, R.J., Santner, S., Davis, B., Veldhius, J., Samojlik, E. and Ruby, E. Aminoglutethimide inhibits extraglandular estrogen production in postmenopausal women with breast carcinoma. *J.Clin.Endocrinol. Metab.* 47: 1257-1265 (1978)

- 203. Santen, R.J., Wargul, T.J., Samojlik, E., Interrante, A., Boucher, A.E., Lipton, A., Harvey, H.A., White, D.S., Smart, E., Cox, C. and Wells, S.A. A randomized trial comparing surgical adrenalectomy with adrenalectomy with Aminoglutethimide plus hydrocortisone in women with advanced breast cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 305: 545-551 (1981).
- 204. Harvey, H.A., Lipton, A., Max, D.T., Pearlman, H.G., Diaz-Perches,
 R. and De La Garza, J. Effective medical castration produced by
 the GnRH analogue leuprolide to treat metastatic breast cancer. *J.Clin.Oncol.* 3: 1068-1072 (1985).
- 205. Wilkinson, P., Hindley, A. and Beardwell, G. Trilostane, a new hormonal agent in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. *Proc.Am.Soc.Clin.Oncol.* 3: 442-443 (1984).
- 206. Henderson, I.C. Chemotherapy for advanced disease. In: Breast cancer: Diagnosis and management. pp.247-280.Edited by Bonadonna, G. J.Wiley, Chichester(1984).
- 207. Hayward, J.L., Carbone, P.P., Heuson, J-C., Kumaoka, S., Segaloff, A. and Rubens, R.D. Assessment of response to therapy in advanced breast cancer. *Cancer* **39**: 1289-1293 (1977).

- 208. Lippman, M.E. An assessment of current achievements in the systemic management of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.*4: 69-77 (1984).
- 209. Kiang, D.T., Frenning, D.H., Gay, J., Goldman, A.I. and Kennedy,
 B.J. Estrogen receptor status and response to chemotherapy in advanced breast cancer. *Cancer* 46: 2814-2817 (1980)
- 210. Lippman, M.E., Allegra, J.C., Thompson, E.B., Simon, R., Barlock, A., Green, L., Huff, K.K., Do, H.M.T., Aitken, S.C. and Warren, R. The relation between estrogen receptors and response rate to cytotoxic chemotherapy in metastatic breast cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 298: 1223-1228 (1978).
- Smalley, R., Lefante, J. and Bartolucci, A. Multivariate prognostic factor analysis- advanced breast cancer chemotherapy. *Proc.Amm. Assoc.Cancer Res.* 22: 146-147 (1981).
- 212. Henderson, I.C. and Canellos, G.P. Cancer of the breast: The past decade. N.Engl.J.Med. 17-30, 78-90 (1980).
- Hoogstraten, B. and Fabian, C. A reappraisal of single drugs in advanced breast cancer. *Cancer Clin. Trials* 2: 101-102 (1979).

- 214. Greenspan, E.M., Fieber, M., Lesnick, G. and Edelman, S.
 Response of advanced breast carcinoma to the combination of the antimetabolite, methotrexate, and the alkylating agent, thio-tepa.
 J.Mt.Sinai Hosp. 30: 246-267 (1963).
- 215. Cooper, R.G. Combination chemotherapy in hormone resistant breast cancer. *Proc.Am.Assoc.Cancer Res.* **10**: 15-16 (1969).
- 216. Chlebowski, R.T., Irwin, L.E., Pugh, R.P., Sadoff, L., Hestroff, R., Weiner, J.M. and Bateman, J.R. Survival of patients with metastatic breast cancer treated with either combination or sequential chemotherapy. *Cancer Res.* 39: 4503-4506 (1979).
- 217. Jones, R., Norton, L. and Bhardwaj, S. Single agent adriamycin for metastatic breast cancer. A Steep dose-response relationship. *Proc.Am.Soc.Clin.Oncol.* 2: 419-420 (1983).
- 218. Lippman, M.E. Efforts to combine endocrine and chemotherapy in the management of breast cancer: do two and two equal three? Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 3: 117-127 (1983).
- 219. Ahmann, D.L., O'Conell, M.J., Hahn, R.G., Bisel, H.F., Lee, R.A. and Edmonson, J.H. An evaluation of early or delayed adjuvant chemotherapy in premenopausal patients with advanced breast

cancer undergoing oophorectomy and chemotherapy. N.Engl.J. Med. 297: 356-360 (1977).

- 220. Falkson, G., Falkson, H.C., Glidewell, O., Weinberg, V., Leone, L. and Holland, J.F. Improved remission rates and remission duration in young women with metastatic breast cancer following combined oophorectomy and chemotherapy. *Cancer* **43**: 2215-2222 (1979).
- 221. Brunner, K.W., Sonntag, R.W., Alberto, P., Senn, H.J., Martz, G., Obrecht, P. and Maurice, P. Combined chemo-and hormonal therapy in advanced breast cancer. *Cancer* **39**: 2923-2933 (1977).
- 222. Fisher, B., Redmond, C., Brown, A., Wolmark, N., Wittliff, J.L., Fisher, E.R., Plotkin, D., Sachs, S., Wolter, J., Frelick, R., Desser, R., LiCalzi, N., Geggie, P., Campbell, T., Elias, E.G., Prager, D., Koontz, P., Volk, H., Dimitrov, N., Gardner, B., Lerner, H. and Shibata, H. Treatment of primary breast cancer with chemotherapy and tamoxifen. *N.Engl.J.Med.* **305**: 1-6 (1981).
- 223. Fisher, B., Redmond, C., Brown, A., Wickerham, D.L., Wolmark, N., Allegra, J., Escher, G., Lippman, M., Savlov, E., Wittliff, J.L. and Fisher, E.R. Influence of tumor estrogen and progesterone receptor levels on the response to tamoxifen and chemotherapy in

primary breast cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 1: 227-241 (1983).

- 224. Ahmann, F., Jones, S. and Davis, S. The effect of initial treatment with chemotherapy, sequential hormonal chemotherapy, or combined hormonal chemotherapy on long term survival in metastatic breast cancer. *Proc.Am.Soc.Clin.Oncol.* 2: 420-421
 - (1983).
- 225. Mouridsen, H. CMF versus CMF plus tamoxifen in advanced breast cancer in postmenopausal women. In *Breast cancer-experimental* and clinical aspects. pp.123-132. Edited by Mourisden, H.T. and Palshof, T., Pergamon press, Elmsford (1980).
- Kardinal, C.G., Perry, M.C., Weinberg, V., Wood, W., Ginsberg, S. and Raju, R.N. Chemoendocrine therapy vs chemotherapy alone for advanced breast cancer in postmenopausal women; Preliminary report of a randomized study. *Breast Cancer Res. Treatment.* 3: 365-371 (1983).
- 227. Krook, J., Ingle, J. and Green S. Randomized trial of CFP plus or minus tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer. *Proc.Am.Soc.Clin.Oncol.* 2: 414-415 (1983).
- 228. Cocconi, G. CMF vs CMF plus tamoxifen in postmenopausal

metastatic breast cancer. *Proc.Am.Soc.Clin.Oncol.* 1: 75-76 (1982).

- 229. Meyer, J.S., Friedman, E., McCrate, M.M. and Bauer, W.C. Prediction of early course of breast carcinoma by thimidine labeling. *Cancer* 51: 1879-1886 (1983).
- 230. Tubiana, M., Pejovie, M.H. and Chavaudra, N. The long-term significance of the thimidine labeling index in breast cancer. Int.J.Cancer 33: 441-445 (1984).
- 231. McDivitt, R.W., Stone, K.R., Craig, R.B. and Meyer J.S. A comparison of human breast cancer cell kinetics measured by flow cytometry and thimidine labeling. *Lab. Invest.* **52**: 287-291 (1985).
- 232. Barlogie, B., Raber, M.N., Schumann, J., Johnson, T.S., Drewinko,
 B., Swartzendruber, D.E., Gohde, W., Andreeff, M. and Freireich,
 E.J. Flow cytometry in clinical cancer research. *Cancer Res.* 43: 3983-3997 (1983).
- Coulter Electronics EASY 1.2 Users manual. Hialeah, FL: Coulter (1987).
- 234. Merkel, D.E. and McGuire, W.L. Ploidy, proliferative activity, and

prognosis: DNA flow cytometry of solid tumours. *Cancer* **65**: 1194-1205 (1990).

- 235. Ewers, S-B., Langston, E., Baldetorp, B. and Kiliander, D. Flowcytometric DNA analysis in primary breast carcinomas and clinicopathological correlations. *Cytometry* **5**: 408-419 (1984).
- 238. Thorud, E., Fossa, S.D., Vaage, S., Kaalhus, O., Knudsen, O.S., Bormer, O. and Shoaib, M.C. Primary breast cancer, flow cytometric pattern in relation to clinical and histopathological characteristics. *Cancer* 57: 808-811 (1986).
- Kallioneimi, O.P., Blanco, G., Alavaikko, M., Hietanen, T., Mattila, J., Lauslahti, K. and Koivula, T. Tumor DNA ploidy as an independent prognostic factor in breast cancer. *Br.J.Cancer* 5:637-642 (1987).
- 238. Kallioniemi, O-P., Blanco, G., Lalvaiko, M., Hietanen, T., Mattila, J., Lauslahti, K., Lehtinen, M. and Koivula, T. Improving the prognostic value of DNA flow cytometry in breast cancer by combining DNA index and S-phase fraction. A proposed classification of DNA histograms in breast cancer. *Cancer* 62: 2183-2190 (1988).

- 239. Clark, G.M., Dressler, L.G., Owens, M.A., Pounds, G., Oldaker, T. and McGuire, W.L. Prediction of relapse or survival in patients with node-negative breast cancer by DNA flow cytometry. *N.Engl.J. Med.* 320: 627-633 (1989).
- 240. Clark, G.M., Owens, M.A. and Dressler, L.G. A new model for estimating S-phase fraction in node-negative breast cancer patients. *Proc.Am.Assoc.Cancer Res.* 31: 184-189 (1990).
- Sigurdsson, H., Baldetrop, B., Borg, A., Dalberg, M., Ferno, M., Kilander, D. and Olsson, H. Indicators of prognosis in node negative breast cancer. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 322: 1045-1053 (1990).
- 242. Clark, G.M., Mathieu, M-C. and Owens, M.A. Prognostic significance of S-phase fraction in good-risk, node-negative breast cancer patients. *J.Clin.Oncol.* 10: 428-432 (1992).
- Wenger, C.R., Beardslee, S., Owens, M.A., Pounds, G., Oldaker, T., Vendely, P., Pandian, M.R., Harrington, D., Clark, G.M. and McGuire, W.L. DNA ploidy, S-phase, and steroid receptors in more than 127,000 breast cancer patients. *Br.Cancer Res. Treat.* 28: 9-20 (1993).
- 244. Moran, R., Black, M. and Alpert, L. Correlation of cell-cycle

kinetics, hormone receptors, histopathology, and nodal status in human breast cancer. *Cancer* 54: 1586-1594 (1984).

- 245. Dressler, L.G., Seamer, L.C., Owens, M.A., Clark, G.M. and McQuire, W.L. DNA flow cytometry and prognostic factors in 1331 frozen breast cancer specimens. *Cancer* **61**: 420-427 (1988).
- 246. Lykkesfeldt, A.E., Blslev, I., Christensen, I.J., Larsen, J.K., Molgaard, H., Rasmussen, B.B., Thorpe, S. and Rose, C. DNA ploidy and S-phase fraction in primary breast carcinomas in relation to prognostic factors and survival for premenopausal patients at high risk for recurrent disease. *Acta. Oncol.* 27: 749-756 (1988).
- 247. Muss, H.B., Kute, T.E., Case, L.D., Smith, L.R., Booher, C., Long, R., Kammire, L., Gregory, B. and Brockeschmidt, J.K. The relation of flow cytometry to clinical and biological characteristics in women with node negative primary breast cancer. *Cancer* 64: 1894-1900 (1989).
- 248. Helin, H.J., Helle, M.J., Kallioniemi, O.P. and Isola, J.J. Immunohistochemical determination of estrogen and progesterone receptors in human breast carcinoma. Correlation with histopathology and DNA flow cytometry. *Cancer* **63**: 1761-1767

- 249. Visscher, D.W., Zarbo, R.J., Jacobsen, G., Kambouris, A., Talpos,
 G. and Sakr, W. Multiparametric deoxyribonucleic acid and cell cycle analysis of breast carcinomas by flow cytometry.
 Clinicopathologic correlations. *Lab. Invest.* 62: 370-378 (1990).
- 250. Vielh, P., Chevillard, S., Mosseri, V., Donatini, B. and Magdelenat,
 H. Ki67 index and S-phase fraction in human breast carcinomas.
 Comparison and correlations with prognostic factors. *Am.J.Clin. Path.* 94: 681-686 (1990).
- Lewis, W.E. Prognostic significance of flow cytometric DNA analysis in node negative breast cancer. *Cancer* 65: 2315-2320 (1990).
- Bichel, P., Poulsen, S. and Anderson, J. Estrogen receptor content and ploidy in human mammary carcinoma. *Cancer* 50: 1771-1774 (1982).
- 253. Hedley, D.W., Rugg, C.A. and Gelber, R.D. Association of DNA index and S-phase fraction with prognosis of node positive early breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 47: 4729-4735 (1987).

- 254. Kute, T.E., Muss, H.B., Cooper, M.R., Case, L.D., Buss, D., Stanley, V., Gregory, B., Galleshaw, J. and Bocher, K. The use of flow cytometry for the prognosis of stage II adjuvant treated breast cancer patients. *Cancer* 66: 1810-1816 (1990).
- 255. Clarke, R., Brenner, N., Katzenellenbogen, B.S., Thompson, E.W., Normal, M.J., Koppi, C., Paik, S., Lippman, M.E. and Dickson, R.B.
 Progression of human breast cancer cells from hormone dependent to hormone independent growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA.* 86: 3649-3653 (1989).
- 256. Ballare, C., Bravo, A.I., Laucella, S., Sorin, I., Cerduro, R., Loza, J., Sousa-Martinez, F., Guman, N. and Mordoh, J. DNA synthesis in estrogen receptor-positive human breast cancer takes place preferentially in estrogen receptor-negative cells. *Cancer* 64: 842-848 (1989).
- 257. King, W.J., DeSombre, E.R., Jensen, E.V. and Greene, G.L. Comparison of immunocytochemical and steroid binding assays for estrogen receptor in human breast tumors. *Cancer Res.* 45: 293-304 (1985).
- **4**58. Berger, U., Wilson, P., McClelland, R.A., Davidson, J. and Coombes, R.C. Correlation of immunocytochemically demonstrated

estrogen receptor distribution and histopathologic features in primary breast cancer. *Hum.Path.* **18**: 1263-1267 (1987).

- 259. Osborne, C.K., Coronado, E.B. and Robinson, J.R. Human breast cancer in the athymic nude mouse. Cytostatic effects of long term antiestrogen therapy. *Eur.J.Cancer Clin.Oncol.* 23: 1189-1196 (1987).
- 260. Graham, M.L., Krett, N.L., Miller, L.A., Leslie, K.K., Gordon, D.F., Wood, W.M., Wei, L.L. and Horwitz, K.B. T47D_{co} cells, genetically unstable and containing estrogen receptor mutations are a model for the progression of breast cancers to hormone resistance. *Cancer Res.* 50: 6208-6217 (1990).
- 261. Fuqua, S.A.W., Fitzgerald, S.D., Chamness, G.C., Tandon, A.K., McDonnell, D.P., Nawaz, Z., O'Malley, B.W. and McGuire, W.L. Variant human breast tumor estrogen receptor with constitutive transcriptional activity. *Cancer Res.* **51**: 105-109 (1991).
- 262. Osborne, C.K., Coronado, E., Wieb, V. and DeGregorio, M. Acquired tamoxifen resistance correlates with reduced breast tumor levels of tamoxifen and isomerization of trans-4hydroxytamoxifen. J.Natl. Cancer Inst. in press 1992.

- 263. Horwitz, K.B., Zava, D.T., Thiligar, A.K., Jensen, E.M. and McGuire, W.L. Steroid receptor analysis of nine human breast cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 38: 2434-2437 (1978).
- Resnicoff, M., Medrano, E.E., Podhajcer, O.L., Bravo, A.I., Bover,
 L. and Mordoh, J. Subpopulations of MCF-7 cells separated by percoll gradient centrifugation. A model to analyze the heterogeneity of human breast cancer. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA*.
 84: 7295-7299 (1987).
- 265. Osborne, C.K., Hobbs, K. and Trent, J.M. Biological differences among MCF-7 human breast cancer cell lines from different laboratories. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 9: 111-121 (1987).
- 266. Ueda, H., Hagino, Y., Ono, M. and Kuwano, M. Human mammary cancer cell mutants with altered hormone receptor activity. *J.Biochem.(Tokyo)* 100: 341-348 (1986).
- 267. Keydar, I., Chen, L., Karbey, S., Weiss, F.R., Delarea, J., Radu,
 M., Chaitcik, S. and Brenner, H.J. Establishment and characterization of a cell line of human breast carcinoma origin. *Eur.J.Cancer* 15: 659-670 (1979).

268. Horwitz, K.B., Mockus, M.B. and Lessey, B.A. Variant T47D

human breast cancer cells with high progesterone receptor levels despite estrogen and anti-estrogen resistance. *Cell* **28**: 633-642 (1982).

- Chalbos, D., Vignon, F., Keydar, I. and Rochefort, H. Estrogens stimulate cell proliferation and induce secretory proteins in a human breast cancer cell line (T47D). *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 55: 276-283 (1982).
- 270. Graham, M.L., Burn, P.A.Jr., Jewitt, P.P. and Horwitz, K.B. Simultaneous flow-cytometry measurement of progesterone receptors and DNA indices in breast cancer. (abstract). *Clin.Res:* 36 495A. (1988).
- 271. Reddel, R.E., Alexander, I.E., Koga, M., Shire, J. and Sutherland,
 R.L. Genetic instability and the development of steroid hormone insensitivity in cultured T47D human breast cancer cell. *Cancer Res.* 48: 4340-4347 (1988).
- 272. Bradford, M.M. Arapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of dye binding. *Anal.Biochem.* 72: 248-250 (1988).
- 273. Guilbert, L.J. and Iscove, N.N. Partial replacement of serum by

selenite, transferrin, albumin and lecithin in haemopoetic cell cultures. *Nature (Lond).* **263**: 594-595 (1976).

- 274. Iscove, N.N. and Melchers, F.J. Complete replacement of serum by albumin, transferrin and soybean lipid in cultures of lipopolysaccharide-reactive Blymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 147: 923-933 (1978).
- Tees, R. and Schreier, M.H. Selective reconstitution of nude mice with long-term cultured and cloned specific helper T cells. *Nature* (Lond). 283: 780-781 (1980).
- 276. Huber, C., Merkenschlager, M., Gattringer, C., Royston, I., Finch, U. and Braunsteiner, H. Human autologous mixed lymphocytes reactivity is primarily specific for xenoprotein determinants adsorbed to antigen-presenting cells during rosette formation with sheep erythrocytes. J. Exp. Med. 155: 1222-1227 (1982).
- 277. Barnes, D. and Sato, G. Growth of a human mammary tumour cell line in a serum-free medium. *Nature* 281: 388-389 (1980).
- 278. Klerx, J.P., Jansen Verplanke, C., Blank, C.G. and Twaalfhoven, L.C. *In vitro* production of monoclonal antibodies under serum-free conditions using a compact and inexpensive hollow fibre cell

culture unit. J. Immunol. Meth. 111: 179-188 (1988).

- 279. Zauderer, M. Origin and significance of autoreactive T cells. Advances in Immunol. 45: 417-437 (1989).
- Tissue Culture: Methods and applications. Eds. Krause, P.F. and Patterson, M.K. Academic Press. New York. (1983).
- 281. Biran, S., Horowitz, A.T., Fuks, Z. and Vlodowsky, I. High-density lipoprotein and extracellular matrix promotes growth and plating efficiency of normal human mammary epithelial cells in serum-free medium. *Int.J. Cancer* **31**: 557-566 (1983).
- 282. Emerman, J.T., Fiedler, E.E., Tolcher, A.W. and Rebbeck, P.M. Effects of defined medium, fetal bovine serum, and human serum on growth and chemosensitivities of human breast cancer cells in primary culture: inference for *in vitro* assays. *In vitro cell Dev.Biol.* 23: 134-140 (1987).
- 283. Fabbro, D., Wyss, R., Borner, C. and Regazzi, R. Epidermal growth factor receptor and calcium/phospholipid-dependent protein kinase activities in human mammary tumor cells. In: *Endocrine therapy of breast cancer. Contribution to oncology* vol 23: eds. Eppenger, U., Fabbro, D. and Schafer, P. Karger, Basel. 33-44. (1986).

- 284. Nishizuka, J. Studies and perspectives of protein kinase C. Science
 233: 305-312 (1986).
- 285. Stampfer, M., Hallowes, R.C. and Hackett, A.J. Growth of normal human mammary epithelial cells in culture. *In vitro* 16: 415-425 (1980).
- 286. Toft, D.O. and Sherman, M.R. Receptor identification by density gradient centrifugation. In *Methods Enzymol.* **36**: 157-166 (1975).
- 287. Stancel, G.M. and Gorski, J. Analysis of cytoplasmic and nuclear estrogen-receptor proteins by sucrose density gradient centrifugation. *Methods Enzymol.* **36**: 166-176 (1975).
- McGuire, W.L. Quantitation of estrogen receptor in mammary carcinoma. *Methods Enzymol.* 36: 248-254 (1975).
- 289. Ratajczak, T. and Hahnel, R. Estradiol receptors: Influence of plasma proteins on detection and quantitation. *J. Steroid Biochem.*7: 741-744 (1976).
- Peck, E.J., DeLibero, J., Richards, R. and Clark, J.H. Instability of the uterine receptor under *in vitro* conditions. *Biochemistry* 12: 4603-4608 (1973).

- 291. Osborne, C.K., Hobbs, K. and Trent, J.M. Biological differences among MCF-7 human breast cancer cell lines from different laboratories. *Breast Can.Res.Treat.* **9**: 111-121 (1987).
- 292. Graham, K., Trent, J., Osborne, C., McGrath, C., Minden, M. and Buick, R. The use of restriction fragment polymorphism to identify the cell line MCF-7. *Breast Can.Res.Treat.* 8: 29-34 (1986).
- Mullick, A. and Chambon, P. Characterization of the estrogen receptor in two antiestrogen-resistant cell lines, LYD and T47D. *Cancer Res.* 50: 333-338 (1990).
- 294. Berthois, Y., Katzenellenbogen, J.A. and Katzenellenbogen, B.S. Phenol red in tissue culture media is a weak estrogen: implications concerning the study of estrogen-responsive cells in culture. *Proc.Nat.Acad.Sci. (Wash).* 83: 2496-2500 (1986).
- 295. Bindal, R.D., Carlson, K.E., Katzenellenbogen, B.S. and Katzenellenbogen, J.A. Lipohpilic impurities not phenosulfonpthalein, account for the estrogenic activity in commercial preparations of phenol red. *J.Steroid Biochem.* 31: 287-293 (1988).
- 296. Lippman, M.E., Dickson, R.B., Bates, S., Knabbe, C., Huff. K.,

Swain, S., McManaway, M., Bronzert, D., Kasid, A. and Gilman, P.E. Autocrine and paracrine growth regulation of human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* **7**: 59-70 (1986).

- 297. Salomon, D.S., Perroteau, I. and kidwell, W.R. Tumor-derived growth factors in rodent and human mammary carcinoma cells. *Contr.Oncol.* 23: 5-16 (1986),
- 298. Engel, L.W. and Young, N.A. Human breast carcinoma cells in continuous culture: a review. *Cancer Res.* 38: 4327-4339 (1978).
- 299. Osborne, C., Hamilton, B. and Nover, M. Receptor binding and processing of epidermal growth factor by human breast cancer cells. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab.* **55**: 886-893 (1982).
- Burke, R. and McGuire, W. Nuclear thyroid hormone receptors in a human breast cancer cell line. *Cancer Res.* 38: 3769-3773 (1978).
- 301. Furlanetto, R. and DiCarlo, J. Somatomedin-C receptors and growth effects in human breast cells maintained in long term culture. *Cancer Res.* 44: 2122-2128 (1984).
- 302. Shafie, S. and Brooks, S. Effect of prolactin on growth and the

estrogen receptor level of human breast cancer cells (MCF-7). Cancer Res. 37: 792-799 (1977).

- 303. Shiu, R. Processing of prolactin by human breast cancer cells in long term tissue culture. J.Biol.Chem. 255: 4278-4281 (1980).
- Wiehle, R.D. and Wittliff, J.L. Isoforms of estrogen receptors by high performance ion-exchange chromatography. *J.Chromatogr.* 266: 115-128 (1983).
- 305. Madhok, T.C. and Leung, B.S. Characterization of uterine estrogen receptors by size exclusion and ion-exchange high performance liquid chromatography. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 115: 988-994 (1983).
- Van der Walt, L.A. and Wittliff, J.L. High resolution separation of molybdate-stabilized progestin receptors using high performance liquid chromatography. *J.Chromatogr.Biomed.Appl.* 425: 277-285 (1988).
- 307. Boyle, D.M., Wiehle, R.D., Shahabi, N.A. and Wittliff, J.L. Rapid, high-resolution procedure for assessment of estrogen receptor heterogeneity in clinical samples. *J.Chromatogr.* 327: 369-376 (1985).

- Moudgil, V.K. and John, J.K. Interaction of rat liver glucocorticoid receptor with adonesine 5'-triphosphate. *Biochem.J.* 190: 809-818 (1980).
- Milgrom, E., Agter, M. and Baulieu, E.E. Acidophilic activation of steroid hormone receptors. *Biochemistry* 12: 5198-5205 (1973).
- 310. Agter, M. and Milgrom, E. Chromatographic separation on phosphocellulose of activated and non activated forms of steroidreceptor complex. *Biochemistry* 15: 4298-4304 (1976).
- 311. Kalimi, M., Colman, P. and Feigelson, P. The "activated" hepatic glucocorticoid-receptor complex. It's generation and properties. *J.Biol.Chem.* 250: 1080-1086 (1975).
- Litwack, G., Filler, R., Rosenfield, S.A., Lichtash, N., Wishman,
 C.A. and Singer, S. Liver cytosol corticoid binder 11, a hormone receptor. *J.Biol.Chem.* 248: 7481-7486 (1973).
- Regnier, F.E. High performance ion-exchange chromatography of proteins: The current status. *Anal.Biochem.* 126: 1-7 (1982).
- 314. Pfannkoch, E., Lu, K.C., Regnier, F.E. and Barth, H.G. Characterization of some commercial high performance size

exclusion chromatography for water soluble polymers. J.Chromatogr.Sci. 18: 430-441 (1980).

- 315. Vanecek, G. and Regnier, F.E. Variables in the high performance anion-exchange chromatography of proteins. *Anal.Biochem.* 109: 345-353 (1980).
- 316. Koos, L.G., Czerniak, B., Herz, F. and Wersto, R.P. Flow cytometric measurements of DNA and other cell components in human tumors: a critical appraisal. *Human Pathol.* 20: 526-537
- Shapiro, H.M. Practical flow cytometry. Allan R. Liss puplications. New York. (1988).
- 318. Wheeless, L. Flow instrumentation and data analysis. In: Diagnostic flow cytometry. eds. Coon, J.S., Weinstein, R.S. Williams and Wilkens, Baltimore, U.S. United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology Inc. USA. (1991).
- 319. Willman, C.L. and Carleton, C.S. General principles of multiparameter flow cytometric analysis: Applications of flow cytometry in diagnostic pathology laboratory. *Seminars in Diagnostic Pathology.* 6: 3-30 (1989).

- 320. McNally, N.J. and Wilson, D.W. Measurement of tumour cell kinetics by the bromodeoxyuridine method. In: *Flow cytometry: a practical approach.* eds. Ormerod, M.G. IRL Oxford University Press. New York. (1990).
- 321. Huff, K.K., Kaufman, B., Gabbay, K.H., Spencer, E.M., Lippman,
 M.E. and Dickson, R.B. Human breast cancer cells secrete an insulin-like growth factor 1 related polypeptide. *Cancer Res.* 46: 4613-4619 (1986).